

The development of a stratified keratinocyte model for *Chlamydia trachomatis* pathogenesis studies

Sasha Jadoo

BSc. BMedScHons (UKZN)

Submitted as the dissertation component in fulfilment for the degree of Masters in Medical Science (Medical Microbiology)

In the

School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences University of Kwa-Zulu Natal South Africa

March 2017

Declaration

I, Sasha Jadoo, declare that:

- I. The research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated is my original research
- II. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other institution
- III. This thesis does not contain other person's data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- IV. This thesis does not contain other persons writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted:
 - a. Their words have been re-written and the general information attributed to them has been referenced.
 - b. Where their exact words have been used, their writing has been placed in italics inside quotation marks and referenced
- V. This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and in the references section.

Signed: _

21 08 2017 Date:

Supervisor's	
signature:	

Date: _____

DEDICATION

This dissertation was written in the memory of

Shamduth Jadoo Bahadur Rambaran Tamara Ann Gabriel and

Ashish Singh

Your impact on my life remains unparalleled.

"Every life comes to an end when time demands it. The loss of life is to be mourned – but only if the

life was wasted"

- Leonard Nimoy as Spock

"Star Trek: The Animated Series": Yesteryear, ep. 1973

ACKNOWLEDGEMNTS

Dr Bronwyn Joubert, for your support throughout the course of this study. Through the hurdles, your words of encouragement never failed to lift my spirit. I am grateful for the professional advice you have given me and the relationship we have built throughout this venture.

Professor Willem Sturm, I am thankful for your constant advice throughout the duration of my entire post-graduate career. Your abundant knowledge is a selfless gift that you ever-willingly share with those in need. I'm humbled to have worked with someone of your calibre and I look forward to doing so again in the future. You are an inspiration to every student that is blessed to work under you.

The Medical Microbiology team at the Nelson Mandela School of Medicine, my most sincere thank you for all your guidance and assistance.

Ms Shoohana Singh, Dr Kogi Moodley and the Histoloy team at UKZN Westville campus, my earnest appreciation for your continuous help and assistance during the histology procedures of my study.

Ms Deepika Moti, thank you for your technical assistance and reliability during the course of my laboratory work. I am truly moved and touched by the lengths you had gone for both, my work and I.

Ms Sumira Kuvar, my best friend. Knowing I was able to share this journey with you, makes it all the more special. Thank you for your love and support throughout the years.

My siblings, Talia Jadoo, Nozi Bugane and Shaimal Singh, thank you for your endless love, support, understanding and advice.

A very special thank you to Ms Yogitha Jadoo, Mr Naresh Jadoo, Mrs Khantha Singh and Mrs Celia Jadoo. Words will never do justice to how grateful I am to have you in my life. Thank you for always believing in me.

To my family, friends and colleagues, a heartfelt thank you for your continuous words of encouragement.

Last but not least, my parents; Mr Shakiel Jadoo and Mrs Mala Jadoo. Everything I've achieved in this life is because of the sacrifices you have made for my education and well-being. The love and respect I have for you both is insurmountable and I am humbled to have been born as your daughter. Thank you for your unshakeable love, support, kindness and belief in me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	Ι
Dedication	III
Acknowledgements	IV
List of Figures	IX
List of Abbreviations and Acronyms	XI
Abstract	XV
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Chapter Two: Literature review	3
2.1. Chlamydia trachomatis	3
2.2. Lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV)	4
2.3. Biology	4
2.3.1. Structure and morphology	4
2.3.2. Life cycle and development	8
2.4. Effect on the host cell	10
2.5. Keratinocytes	12
2.5.1. Differentiation	12
2.5.2. Terminal differentiation	13
2.5.3. Adhesion	14
2.5.3.1. Cadherins	15
2.5.4. Stratification	16
2.5.5. Keratins	18

T

2.5.5.1. The effect of differentiation on keratins	19	
2.6. HaCaT cells	20	
2.7. Fibroblasts	20	
2.8. Stromal interactions	21	
Chapter Three: Methods and materials	23	
3.1. Cell culture	23	
3.1.1. Cell lines	23	
3.1.2. Cell culture media	23	
3.1.2.1. McCoy cells	23	
3.1.2.2. HaCaT cells	23	
3.1.3. Cultuvation and revival	24	
3.1.4. Determination of cell numbers	26	
3.2. Bacterial culture	27	
3.2.1. Propagation and storage of Chlamydia trachomatis		27
3.2.2. Propagation of Chlamydia	28	
3.2.3. Determination of infectious titre	28	
3.3. Preparation of stratified keratinocyte model	29	
3.4. Infection of the stratified keratinocyte model with C. trachomatis	29	
3.5. Histology	30	
3.5.1. Preparation of CoStar® Transwell ® Inserts for histology	30	
3.5.2. Hematoxylin and Eosin staining	32	
3.5.3. Immunofluorescence Four: Results	32 <u>Cł</u> 35	<u>napter</u>
4.1. Optimisation of methods	35	

4.1.1. Duration of incubation	35
4.1.2. Dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies for immunofluorescence	37
4.1.3. The use of organotypic co-cultures grown on a collagen matrix as an add	itional 41 and
alternate method to generate a stratified keratinocyte model	
4.2. Infection of stratified keratinocytes grown at 33°C and 37°C with C. trachoma	atis 42
4.3. C. trachomatis infection of stratified HaCaT cells grown at 33C and 37C	44
4.4. Differentiation of C. trachomatis infected HaCaT cells	45
4.5. Controls for stratification of keratinocytes	47 <u>Chapter</u>
Five: Discussion	49
References	58
Appendix A	82

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1. Layers making up the epithelium

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1. Differentiation of HaCaT cells grown at various temperatures for 14 days and 24 days

Figure 4.2 A. Fluorescence produced after staining thin sections of layered keratinocytes with various combinations of dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies to keratin 10

Figure 4.2 B. Fluorescence produced after staining thin sections of layered keratinocytes with various combinations of dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies to keratin 14

Figure 4.2 C. Fluorescence produced after staining thin sections of layered keratinocytes with various combinations of dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies to involucrin

Figure 4.3. Collagen shrinkage observed in fibroblast-keratinocyte co-cultures after 14 days of incubation at 33°C and 37°C

Figure 4.4. The effect of *Chlamydia trachomatis* on differentiated, polarised HaCaT cells at different temperatures

Figure 4.5. Confirmation of *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection using the MicroTrak ® *C. trachomatis* Culture Confirmation Test Kit

Figure 4.6. Expression of various keratinocyte markers, confirming the differentiation of keratinocytes

Figure 4.7. Control demonstrating that non-specific binding had not occurred

Figure 4.8. Control demonstrating the staining pattern of non-polarised, non-differentiated keratinocytes

LIST OF ABBREVIATION AND ACRONYMS

μm

Micrometres γ -irradiation

Gamma irradiation

Two Dimensional

2D

BPE	Bovine Pituitary Extract
C. muridarum	Chlamydia muridarum
CGM-P	Chlamydia Growth Medium for Propagation
Conc.	Concentration
CO2	Carbon Dioxide
C. trachomatis	Chlamydia trachomatis
Da	Dalton
DAPI	4'6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DEDs	Dermal Equivalent Substrates
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium
DNA	Dioxyribonucleic Acid
EB	Elementary Body/ies
EBSS	Earle's Balanced Salt Solution
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediamine-tetra-acetic acid
EMEM	Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
Fe	Iron
FGF-7	Fibroblast Growth Factor 7
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GM-CSF	Granulocyte Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor

H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
HBSS	Hanks Buffered Saline Solution
HEPES	Hydroxylethyl Piperazineethanesulfonic acid
IL1	Interleukin 1
IL1-α	Interleukin 1 alpha
IL1-β	Interleukin 1 Beta
InC	Inclusion Membrane Proteins
KDa	Kilo Dalton
KGF	Keratinocyte Growth Factor
KGM	Keratinocyte Growth Medium
L-Glutamine	Levo-Glutamine
LGV	Lymphogranuloma venereum
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MIF	Microimmunofluorescence
MOMP	Major Outer Membrane Protein
MOI	Multiplicity Of Infection
mRNA	Messenger Riobonucleic Acid
MTOC	Microtubule Organising Centre
N-linked	Nitrogen-linked
NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
NEAA	Non Essential Amino Acids

NEKs/NHEKs	Normal (Human) Epidermal Keratinocytes
nm	Nanometres
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PG	Peptidoglycan
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene RB
Reticulate Body/ies rhGF	Human Recombination
Epidermal Growth Factor RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid SPG
Sucrose Phosphate Buffer	
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
TGF-α	Transforming Growth Factor alpha
TPA	Tissue Plasminogen Activator
TTSS	Type III secretion system
UKZN	University of Kwa-Zulu Natal
WHO	World Health Organization
w/v	Weight per volume

ABSTRACT

A number of different methods to generate stratified keratinocyte layers have been published. These involved the use of normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEKs/NEKS), which have a better ability to stratify compared to HaCaT keratinocytes, which usually require supplemented growth factors or stromal interactions with fibroblasts to do so.

This study aimed to generate a model of stratified keratinocytes, closely resembling *in vivo* skin, using HaCaT cells and to demonstrate the effect that *C. trachomatis* has on these layered keratinocytes, allowing us to gain insight on the pathophysiology of this organism.

All cells and bacteria were propagated and titrated according to conventional protocols. HaCaT cells were subcultured upon confluence, seeded ($1x10^6$ cells/ml) onto collagen-coated PTFE Transwell membrane inserts and incubated at 33°C and 37°C for 24 days to allow differentiation and stratification. Once cells became confluent they were exposed to the air-liquid interface and fed with KGM Gold (Lonza) supplemented with 10% FBS and additional calcium. Thereafter, cells were fixed in 3.7% phosphate-buffered formaldehyde, embedded in a paraffin block, sectioned, stained and viewed. Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining was used to determine the resemblance to *in vivo* human skin. Immunofluorescence was used to detect keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin which are markers of keratinocyte differentiation. Stratified keratinocyte layers were infected with *C. trachomatis* and this was confirmed using the MicroTrak ® *C. trachomatis* Culture Confirmation Test Kit. Subsequent changes to the layers were also observed and recorded.

It was shown that HaCaT cells grown at the air-liquid interface on collagen-coated PTFE Transwell membrane inserts were able to stratify at 33°C. However, more layers of keratinocytes were seen at 37°C after the same duration of incubation (24 days). Keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin were all detected in the layers grown at both temperatures, suggesting that the keratinocytes had committed to differentiation. However, the fluorescence seen at 33°C for keratin 10 and involucrin was more intense as compared to that seen at 37°. This suggests that although stratification was faster at 37°C, differentiation was quicker at 33°C.

IV

Х

C. trachomatis was able to infect layered keratinocytes grown at both temperatures although not all layers formed at 33°C were infected. Degradation of keratinocyte layers after infection with *C. trachomatis* was more prominent in those grown at 37°C, which is in keeping with previous findings that the optimum growth temperature of the *C. trachomatis* LGV biovar is 37°C.

This study provided a novel insight in suggesting the manner in which *C. trachomatis* is able to infect and migrate through *in vivo* skin, leaving room for further studies in which similar methods of generating stratified keratinocytes may be used to better understand the pathophysiology of various other organisms that affect keratinocytes.

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODCUTION

Chlamydia trachomatis is a gram negative, sexually transmitted pathogen with a characteristic obligate intracellular life cycle, essential for survival (Caldwell *et al.* 1981).

Chlamydiae predominantly infects columnar epithelial cells, causing an inflammatory response which further orchestrates both, an innate and adaptive immune response (O'Connel *et al.* 2006).

C.trachomatis is associated with a number of various diseases (Bobo *et al.* 1997). In 1995, the World Health Organization (WHO) reported 89 million new findings of genital Chlamydia infections, indicative of the effect that chlamydial infections have on a global scale, and the economic strain it causes (Schachter, 1999). More specifically, the lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV) serovars L1, L2 and L3 cause a more invasive sexually transmitted disease called Lymphogranuloma venereum (Schachter, 1999). This invasive bacterium travels down the lymphatic channels after passing through the epithelial cell layer. Thereafter, multiplication occurs within mononuclear phagocytes of the lymph nodes (Belland *et al*, 2004). Invasion of the lymphatic tissue ultimately results in severe clinical symptoms such as abscesses, lymphatic fibrosis, elephantiasis of genetalia, and anal strictures (Mabey and Peeling, 2002).

Cases of LGV infections are common in Africa, the Caribbean and parts of Asia (Perine and Stamm, 1999). In 2003, more modern and revolutionized countries suffered an epidemic of LGV in homosexual males, where outbreaks of LGV proctitis were commonly reported in the Netherlands and Western Europe, despite the misconception of being relatively rare in modern times. (Nieuwhenhuis *et al*, 2004).

Previous studies that investigated the *in vitro* infection of *C.trachomatis* in keratinocytes were only conducted on monolayers of human keratinocytes, which does not constitute part of the human *in vivo* environment. Therefore, these studies did not give a clear depiction of the pathogenesis of the organism.

This study aims to generate a stratified keratinocyte model *in vitro*, which closely resembles the *in vivo* human epidermis, using tissue-culture techniques. The model will then be infected with the *C.trachomatis* L2 reference strain, in an effort to assess the ability of *C. trachomatis* to migrate through the multi-layered human keratinocyte structure. Overall, the development of these keratinocyte infection models, *in vitro*, allows for a clearer understanding of the pathogenesis of *Chlamydia trachomatis*, essentially opening room for improving treatment of infected patients.

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine, University of KwaZulu Natal. Reference number: BE021/16 (sub-study of BE220/13).

CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Chlamydia trachomatis

Chlamydia trachomatis is a Gram negative bacterial pathogen which causes both genital tract and eye infections in humans. It comprises of 15 serovars (A, B, Ba, C-K and L1-L3), grouped based on antigenic differences in the chlamydial major outer membrane protein (MOMP) (Caldwell *et al.* 2003; Schachter, 1999; Mabey *et al.* 1999).

The serovars are further grouped into biovars which differ in pathophysiology. Serovars A-C make up the trachoma biovar (Mabey *et al.* 1999), serovars D-K the urogenital biovar and L13 the lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV) biovar (Moulder, 1991). The trachoma biovar consists of serovars Ab, B, Ba and C, which cause trachoma whereby the urogenital serovars D-K cause urethritis in male and urethritis and cervicitis in female (Carlson *et al.* 2004). Both, trachoma and urogenital strains have the ability to infect epithelial cells of the conjunctiva and genital tract respectively, thereby causing disease that is specific to the particular organ system (Miyairi *et al.* 2006). The range of diseases caused by the trachoma biovar is limited to chronic conjunctival infection, whereas, urogenital strains cause a wider range of both acute and chronic genital tract infections but also a form of active conjunctivitis (Leonard & Borel, 2014). Chlamydia of the LGV biovar are invasive (Schachter & Moncada, 2005) in the sense that these infect tissue underlying the primary target of epithelial cells. The other chlamydial biovars are non-invasive.

Interestingly, the *C trachomatis* serovars have approximately 99.6% of shared DNA, even though there is a substantial variation in their respective disease spectrum, indicating that variations are as a result of a minute number of genetic differences (Carlson *et al.* 2004).

C. trachomatis is transmitted through infected body secretions and infects mostly mucosal membranes namely; the cervix, rectum, urethra, throat and conjunctiva. The most common method of transmission of serovars D-K and L1-L3 is through sexual contact (Wang, 1999).

2.2 Lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV)

LGV is an infection of the skin and lymphatic system caused by *C. trachomatis* of the LGV biovar (Schachter, 1983). The infection develops when the bacterium gets in contact with viable epithelial cells in the deeper layers of the skin. This results in the formation of a genital ulcer. From there, the bacteria pass through the epithelial cell layer and travel along the lymphatic channels towards the inguinal lymph nodes where it multiplies within mononuclear phagocytes causing inguinal lymphadenitis, the secondary stage of infection. If left untreated, a tertiary stage may follow which involves the occurrence of fibrosis of the lymphatics, resulting in varying degrees of lymphatic obstruction, chronic oedema and strictures. These symptoms are usually irreversible (Ward *et al.* 2007).

2.3 Biology

2.3.1 Structure and morphology

C. trachomatis is a gram negative obligate intracellular bacterium, which appears in two different forms (Ward 1983). The elementary body (EB) is the infectious, metabolically inactive form while the reticulate body (RB) is non-infectious, metabolically active and replicates (Ward 2002).

The EB is small and compact with a ridged cell wall that provides osmotic resistance, thus rendering it more resilient during the transfer from one host cell to another (Ward 1983). It is spherical in shape with a diameter of approximately 350 nm (Ward 2002) and comprises of cytoplasm and compactly-packed DNA together with 3 binding-proteins, which are H1like proteins (Wagar & Stephens 1988). In human cells these H1 proteins maintain the overall structure of the chromatin network. Two of the H1-like proteins in chlamydia (Hcl and Hc2) are involved in condensation of the DNA when EB are formed. The activity of Hc1 is controlled by regulatory RNA (IntA) which prevents the transformation of RBs into EBs (Grieshaber *et al.* 2006).

The RB is much larger than the EB (Bavoil et al. 1984). It is pleomorphic in shape with a diameter of approximately 1µm (Ward 2002). Being metabolically active, RBs lack the chlamydial histone analogues that condense the nucleoid in EBs (Hacktadt et al. 1991). The diffuse nucleoid of RBs, allows transcription and synthesis of proteins (Ward 2002). Since C. trachomatis is a gram negative organism, both the EB and RB are surrounded by a cytoplasmic membrane and a layered cell wall (Ward, 1983). In a study by Matsumoto & Manire (1970), the cell walls of both EBs and RBs were examined and compared. It was found that the cell wall of the EB had a high phospholipid and amino-acid content, as expected in typical gram-negative organisms. However, the cell wall of the RB had a decreased amount of phospholipid, with no detectable amino-acids. Manire (1966) demonstrated that hexagonal subunits are synthesized during the maturation of RB to EB which form part of the interior of the cell wall. The chemical composition thereof remains unknown. Manire (1966) also elucidated that the synthesis of the subunits is prevented by penicillin and stated that the primary purpose of the subunits is to provide the cell wall of the EB with strength and rigidity, which is absent in the RB, making it more fragile in comparison. This layer of subunits is known as the P-layer (Matsumoto & Manire, 1970). The transformation from EB to RB is dependent on bacterial protein synthesis (Gerard et al, 1997). There is expression of chlamydial 16S rRNA during the transformation of EB to RB, making it a marker for both, replicating and viable non-replicating organisms (Mathews et al, 1999). Since rRNA constitutes part of the chlamydial ribosome, it is essential for function of the organism (Engel et al. 1987). Using reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction assays, Gerard et al. 1997 tracked chlamydial RNA and discovered that transcripts from proximinal rRNA promotors are seen 4 hours after the EB binds to the host cell and distal rRNA promotors were detected 6 hours after infection, indicating that protein synthesis occurs at a very early stage during the transformation of EB to RB.

Like other Gram negative bacteria, the cell wall of *C. trachomatis* consists of a cytoplasmic membrane, a peptidoglycan (PG)-like layer and an outer membrane. However, the cell wall of this organism has a few unique structural features, namely no detectable muramic acid, atypical lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and a specific outer membrane protein (MOMP) (Liechi *et al.* 2014).

Muramic acid, an amino sugar acid, is a component of peptidoglycan adding to the structural component of most bacterial cell walls (Liechi *et al.* 2014). It has been established that chlamydia has genes coding for PG and that they are susceptible to beta-lactam antibiotics that target PG, even though PG as such is not detected in chlamydial species.

This is known as the "chlamydia anomaly" (Ghuysen & Goffin 1999). Earlier studies elucidated the detection of muramic acid in small quantities in *C.trachomatis* from embryonated eggs (Jenkin, 1960). However, these studies made use of colorimetric methods which is not a reliable means of differentiating between smaller amounts of chemically similar compounds in complex mixtures. (Fox *et al*, 1990). In such cases, glucosamine and various amino sugars interfere in the colorimetric detection of muramic acid, which is common when muramic acid is found in small amounts (Fox *et al*, 1990). Furthermore, Fox *et al*, 1990, suggested that trace levels of muramic acid is not sufficient to synthesize a peptidoglycan, implying that the exact mechanism of action of antibiotics such as penicillin against chlamydiae remains unclear.

Chlamydial LPS makes up part of the outer membrane of chlamydia. It differs from other gram-negative bacteria in that it has two of the three antigenic domains usually found in LPS (Weisburg *et al.* 1986). The cell wall is selectively permeable, thus protecting the EB whilst it is outside the host cell (Ghuysen & Goffin. 1999) and maintains a fixed shape and resilience to the stress of osmosis. Instead of muramic acid, sulphur bridges between cysteine-rich proteins allow for the rigid structure and ability to withstand osmotic pressure (Bavoil et al. 1984).

Chlamydia have a genus-specific LPS as part of the outer membrane (Brade *et al.* 1985). The key difference between chlamydial LPS and that of typical gram negative bacteria lies in the lipid-A moiety, comprising of 5 fatty acyl groups instead of the usual 6. The fatty acyl groups are long and comprise of normal fatty acids rather than hydroxyl fatty acids. This results in reduced endotoxicity of chlamydial LPS relative to that of typical bacteria (Heine *et al.* 2003). This allows *chlamydia* to develop asymptomatic cervicitis for which no treatment is sought. From there chlamydia travel up the genital tract to the sterile oviducts causing infertility (Ingalls *et al.* 1995). These asymptomatic infections also allow for effective transmission.

The outer membrane contains the major outer membrane protein (MOMP), which offers heterogeneity in 4 segments, each having different antigenic characteristics. This allows for the characterization of the strains into various serovars that can be identified by microimmunofluorescence (MIF) tests. In most specialised chlamydia laboratories, MIF is replaced by sequencing of the genes coding for the antigens (Stothard *et al.* 1998). MOMP is a glycosylated cysteine-rich protein with a molecular mass of 40 000Da (Newhall and Jones, 1983). MOMP is situated on the outer surface of the infectious EB, making it essential for the interaction between *C.trachomatis* and the mammalian host cell since the glycan moieties of MOMP is largely responsible for cell adhesion (Su *et al*, 1990). Other imperative functions of MOMP include the maintenance of the overall structure of the outer membrane, assisting in the formation of pores (Ortiz *et al*, 1996) and the regulation of nutrient and metabolite exchange for the RB (Bavoil *et al*, 1984). In addition, Ortiz *et al*, 1996, demonstrated that human T-cells are activated by peptide epitopes that are found within MOMP, resulting in cell-mediated immunity.

2.3.2 Life Cycle and Development

Chlamydia are obligate intracellular pathogens (Moulder, 1991). They replicate intracellularly within a membrane-bound structure called an "inclusion", the membrane of

this inclusion, which originates as host cytoplasmic membrane, is altered by the insertion of chlamydial inclusion membrane proteins or Inc (Mital *et al*, 2010). These Incs play a role in the evasion of lysosomal fusion and degradation.

The life cycle of chlamydia involves the adhesion and entrance of an infectious EB into a target cell (Elwell *et al*, 2016). Following entrance into the cell, the membrane bound chlamydia move along microtubules to the microtubule organising centre (MTOC). This movement is dynein-dependent but needs additional chlamydial proteins to move to the perinuclear region. Within 6-9 hours of entry, the EB swells (as the DNA becomes more diffuse) and ribosomes are synthesised, followed by the formation of the RB (Moulder, 1991).

Upon *in vitro* infection of cells with chlamydia, Yasir *et al.* 2011, noticed a substantial increase in the markers of autophagy. This is the intra-cellular degradation of nonfunctional organelles and is therefore a mechanism that can be used by the cell to remove chlamydia inclusions. Yasir *et al.* 2011 found that this defensive autophagy mechanism is activated if the chlamydial species is not adapted to the host, e.g. *C. muridarum* in human cells. However, this defence mechanism was down regulated when the human parasite *C. trachomatis*, L2 was used.

The RB body divides by binary fission, with a generation time of approximately 2-3 hours whilst the inclusion simultaneously intercepts sphingomyelin and cholesterol containing vesicles from the exocytic pathway with a preference for sphingomyelin (Hackstadt *et al.* 1995, Moore et al, 2008). The subsequent reticulate bodies are reorganized into elementary bodies. Thereafter, these elementary bodies are released to infect other target cells

(Moulder, 1991).

The exit of *C. trachomatis* from host cells may take place by one of two methods: cell lysis or extrusion. The difference between the two is that the host cell dies during cell lysis while it survives during extrusion. Chlamydia induced cell lysis is a quick process facilitated by proteases (Hybiske & Stephens, 2007). The inclusion membrane ruptures and the cellular

organelles and cell membrane become permeable and lyse. In contrast, extrusion involves the exit of EBs from the host cell in an organised manner. Firstly, part of the membrane protrudes from the infected cell, resulting in the inclusion being snipped off into different compartments and substances attaching to the cell periphery. Thereafter (~2-3 hours), all chlamydial particles bound to the membrane are released. This process is advantageous to the bacteria since all particles remain protected from the extracellular environment for a short amount of time and are thereby protected from the host's immune system (Hybiske & Stephens, 2007).

Wyrick, 2000 made mention that mature chlamydial inclusions move along the exocytic/extrusive pathway to the surface of the epithelium to fuse with the plasma membrane. This happens at both, the apical membrane, allowing the release of chlamydia onto the epithelial surface and the basal membrane releasing chlamydia that disseminate within the tissue. In addition, leftover osmotically unstable RB are lysed in the extracellular milieu allowing only infectious EB to enter the infection cycle

Under certain conditions, *Chlamydia* can establish a persistent growth state, where celldivision comes to a halt, resulting in cells becoming morphologically aberrant and capable of returning to a normal growth state after favourable host cell conditions are restored

(Hackstadt *et al.* 1997). This phenomenon is known as "persistence" and takes place when there is a lack of nutrients and immunological attack (Wyrick, 2000). Only viable, noninfectious organisms (RBs) can become persistent whilst appearing enlarged and disintegrated during this state (Wyrick, 2000)

2.4 Effect on the host cell

As a typical feature of pathogenic gram negative bacteria, *C. trachomatis* uses a type III/contact-dependent secretion system (TTSS). The exact mechanism of this system remains unknown however, it is known that it plays an imperative role in the translocation of various

chlamydial antigens like MOMP, LPS and IncA. The system may also be involved in attaching to various hosts via injection of substances through host cells to mobilize the cytoskeleton thus orchestrating the intake of the bacterium (Wyrick, 2000).

The inclusion membrane of *C. trachomatis* serves as the connection between the bacterium and the host. It disrupts the exocytic pathway, where sphingomyelin is integrated into the inclusion membrane, after being transferred from the trans-golgi thus becoming a component of the chlamydial cell wall (Hackstadt *et al.* 1995). Similarly, acquisition of cholesterol and phospholipids takes place. Changes to the inclusion membrane are made by Incs, which are inclusion proteins that have a hydrophobic domain that constitutes 40 amino acids.

Surprisingly, there is no sequence homology to the hydrophobic domain found in the domain (Wylie *et al.* 1997; Bannantine *et al.* 2000).

Field & Hackstadt, 2002 elucidated 5 InC proteins in the membrane of *C. trachomatis* inclusions, resulting in interactions with proteins of the host that allow for signal transduction. Interestingly, Fields & Hackstadt 2000 also found that inclusion membrane proteins that lack a hydrophobic domain also constitute part of InC proteins such as, CopN and CapL.

Heizen & Hackstadt 1997 determined that the inclusion membrane remains impermeable to molecules sized 520D to 500kD however, Grieshaber *et al.* 2002 showed that the inclusion membrane may allow for the acquisition of cytoplasmic ions.

It is known that iron is imperative for the growth of Chlamydia (Grieshaber *et al.* 2002) however, the means of acquisition of iron remain unknown. Nunez *et al.* 1990 have stated that endosomes, located close to the inclusion, contain the transferrin-transferrin receptor complexes and release Fe^{2+} after acidification and subsequent reduction. Given that the membrane is permeable by ions (Grieshaber *et al.* 2002), it is hypothesized that Fe^{2+} is transferred to the inclusion membrane via endosomes. Thereafter, they are released into the cytoplasm, allowing entrance into the Chlamydial inclusion via diffusion (Nunez *et al.* 1990). Once there is a substantial amount of organisms within the inclusion, the bacterium starts to

compete with the host for nutrients thus disrupting host cell replication (Horoschak & Moulder, 1978).

A cytotoxin in the EB of serovar D shares a substantial degree of homology with cytotoxins (LCT) A and B of *Clostridium difficile* (Belland *et al.* 2001). This cytotoxin interrupts the actin cytoskeleton and the intracellular interactions. Carlson *et al.* 2004 demonstrated that cells infected with a serovar D at an increased MOI caused the flattening of cells followed by actin depolymerisation. This was unlike cells infected with serovar L2, which maintain a constant morphology throughout.

Cytotoxin CT166 displays a DXD motif imperative for the activity of enzymes, in both bacterial and mammalian type-A glycosyltransferases, expresses glycosyltransferase activity (Belland *et al.* 2001). In a study by Bothe *et al.* 2015, Hela cells that express the cytotoxin, were seen to also express the rounding of the cells, preventing the activity of Rho-GTPases Rac/Cdc42. Overall, this showed that CT166 has an imperative role in cellular functions, making it essential for the intracellular survival of chlamydia.

In addition, Belland *et al* 2001, showed that the cytotoxin present in the EB is transferred to the host cell upon infection and has a virulent role, thus adding to the pathogenesis of the organism. Interestingly, Thalman *et al.* 2010 showed that the chlamydial uptake was disrupted in cells that over-expressed CT166, indicating that CT166's role as an effector-protein during the infection of host cells may vary.

2.5 Keratinocytes

Human skin is a multi-layered epithelium with self-renewal and tissue repair capabilities (Figure 2.1). The epidermis, which is the outer-most layer of skin, forms a protective barrier on the surface of the body, consisting of stratified squamous epithelium and preventing the

entrance of pathogens (McGrath *et al.* 2004). The basal layer consists of proliferating cells which despite having a network of keratin intermediate filaments, are relatively undifferentiated (Alonso and Fuchs, 2003). As the basal cells begin to divide, a portion of these cells detach from the basement membrane and start to move outwards, towards the surface of the skin. Therefore, sloughed cells from the skin surface are continuously replaced by the basal cells that are moving towards the surface (Alonso and Fuchs, 2003).



Figure 2.1: The various layers that make up the epithelium (Shier *et al*, 1999)

2.5.1 Differentiation

Keratinocytes, which constitute 90% of the epidermis, proliferate via mitosis in the basal layer (McGrath *et al.* 2004). Daughter-cells undergo a change in composition during the different phases of differentiation, as they are pushed upwards towards the outermost layer of skin and eventually become anucleated. The phases of this differentiation are represented by the following: 1. The stratum basale, which is the germinal layer of the epidermis, where mitotic activity allows for a constant supply of new keratinocytes. 2. The stratum spinosum, which consists of cells that are undergoing growth and early synthesis of fibrilar proteins. 3. The stratum granulosum, containing intracellular granules that assist in keratinisation. 4. The stratum corneum, comprising flattened cells that have merged and consist of keratin (Pummi *et al.* 2001).

During the differentiation process, keratinocytes form desmosomes between each other as a result of their highly organized configuration. Keratin proteins and lipids are then secreted, which essentially allow for the protective strong exterior of skin (Elias, 1991).

The proliferative and undifferentiated keratinocytes from neonatal as well as adult skin can be used for primary cell culture (Green, 1977). Differentiation of these keratinocytes may be stimulated by the addition of exogenous factors including chemicals such as calcium and Tissue Plasminogen Activator (TPA). Differentiation of keratinocytes can also be stimulated by inhibiting contact with the extracellular matrix, by seeding them onto dermal equivalent substrates (DEDs) that are grown at the air-liquid interface, resulting in epidermal stratification (Lamb and Ambler. 2012).

Although a number of studies have been conducted to develop serum-free, feeder-free media that support the growth and propagation of keratinocytes in 2-dimensional cell culture, the effect that these growth conditions have on keratinocyte stratification and differentiation into 3-dimensional human epidermis remains unknown (Lamb *et al.* 2013). Our study only included Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS).

2.5.2 Terminal differentiation

During the process of proliferation, certain cells in the basal layer are released and begin the cycle of "terminal differentiation" instead. This phenomenon is orchestrated by the interaction between integrins and intracellular signalling pathways (Rippa et al, 2013). In addition, cadherins are receptors that allow for successful adhesion (Stanley *et al.* 1980) and the formation of junctions between cells (Tinkle et al, 2008).

During terminal differentiation, $\beta 1$ integrin activity is downregulated by decreasing the density of integrin receptors on the surface of the cell in combination with the inhibition of transcription of integrin genes and the prevention of immature integrin subunits from undergoing N-linked glycosylation or being moved to the surface of the cell (Hotchin & Watt. 1992). (Yamamototanaka *et al*, 2014).

Terminal differentiation remains possible in keratinocytes growing in media supplemented with little to no calcium, leading to involucrin expression, giving rise to the cornified envelope (Watt & Green. 1982). Furthermore, cell surface glycoproteins involved in lectin-binding are also expressed.

In a study by Hodivala & Watt. 1994, it was seen that keratinocytes co-express both integrins and markers of terminal differentiation under conditions where culture medium is supplemented with a low concentration of calcium. When the concentration of calcium is increased, there is a significant reduction in integrins expressed in terminally differentiating cells.

2.5.3 Adhesion

Cell to cell adhesion of keratinocytes is controlled and maintained by various molecules packed into distinct structures the formation of which is regulated by the concentration of calcium ions (Rinnerthaler *et al*, 2015). Under a significantly low calcium concentration (30μ m), keratinocytes only develop into a monolayer, lacking adherend junctions or desmosomes. In contrast, when the calcium concentration has been increased, desomosomes are formed, followed by the progression of stratification (Strudwick *et al*, 2015).

Takeichi, 1988 has demonstrated that E-cadherin is involved in the formation of intercellular junctions. Similarly, Mertz *et al*, 2013, demonstrated that cadherin-based cell-cell adhesions has an integral role in orchestrating the physical activity of epithelial cells since naïve mouse keratinocytes without cadherin-based adhesions displayed traction forces that extended throughout the respective colony whereas those with cadherin-based adhesions were able to localize traction forces to the periphery of the colony. This was indicative that cadherin-based adhesions are essential for this mechanical action of keratinocytes.

Desmosomes, which are cell-cell adhesions coupled to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton, are not only essential for the mechanical activity of the cells but are also remodelled to maintain homeostasis of epithelial cells (Osmani and Labousse, 2015).

In a study by Wheelock & Jensen. 1992, interactions shared by E cadherin, P cadherin,

Vinculin, β 1 integrin and desmoplakin were examined, during the development of intercellular junctions and stratification. All markers began concentrating at the cell to cell borders when the calcium concentration was increased.

2.5.3.1 Cadherins

The most commonly expressed cadherins on keratinocytes are P-cadherin, E-cadherin, desmocollin and desmoglein (Caldwell *et al*, 2016).

Van Roy 2014 stated that E-cadherin is expressed in all of the cell layers, but Pcadherin is only expressed in the basal layer, in both in-vivo and in-vitro epidermis.

The binding of cadherins is a homophillic process and is dependent on calcium, seeing that intercellular adhesion is prevented upon the reduction of calcium ions in culture medium during *in vitro* stratification (Strudwick *et al*, 2015). This subsequently prevents keratinocytes from stratifying. Cadherin expression occurs simultaneously with the assembly of desmosomes and adherence junctions when the culture medium has a concentration of ~1.8mM calcium followed by the migration of terminally differentiating keratinocytes to the suprabasal layer from the basal layer (Hennings & Holbrock, 1983).

Interestingly, antibodies to E-Cadherin cause a fractional inhibition of stratification. However, this is not the case with antibodies to integrins (Larjava *et al.* 1990).

As specified in a study by Hodivala & Watt. 1994, a significant loss in integrins is seen in terminally differentiating cells in medium with reduced calcium. This was also seen due to antibodies to P and E cadherin, which prevented stratification, indicating that cadherins downregulate the expression of integrins in keratinocytes. The reason as to why cadherins allow for the loss of integrins may be because of the competition of the two molecules for a cytoskeletal molecule required for expression in different keratinocytes (Hodivala & Watt. 1994). Since antibodies inhibit integrin mRNA reduction, it can be assumed that this took place at the integrin gene transcription level (Hotchjin & Watt, 1992). This study was in accordance with Wheelock and Jensen. 1992, which reported the inhibition of calcium-assisted stratification by antibodies to E-cadherin and P-cadherin. Furthermore, this study also pointed out that although stratification was substantially reduced in the presence of anti-E Cadherin, there were a few vertical layers that were still formed by the keratinocytes, but they lacked adhesive properties. On the other hand, cells still expressed filaggrin, which is a marker of differentiation. Cells also collected an overload of desmoplanktin at the cell-cell connection, correlating to that of normally stratified in vitro keratinocytes.

Interestingly, although stratification and integrin expression were both reduced upon the addition of antibodies to cadherin, desmosomes were still seen between the cells within the subsequent monolayer, indicating that desmosome-formation occurs regardless of the reduction of integrins and vice versa (Hodivala & Watt. 1994).

2.5.4 Stratification

It is possible for naïve keratinocytes to be isolated from the human epidermis and cultured *in vitro* to allow for differentiation and subsequent stratification (Chavez-Munoz *et al*, 2013). This may be done upon the addition of calcium, TPA, limiting the attachment of the keratinocyte extracellular matrix via a forced cell suspension, or by growing keratinocytes onto dermal equivalents at the air-liquid interface, resulting in stratification (Green. 1977) (Lamb & Ambler, 2013).

Prunieras *et al.* 1983 stated that growing primary keratinocytes at the air-liquid interface on dermal equivalents, such as de-epidermalized de-vitalized human skin (DEDs), generated a

structure that closely resembles *in vivo* skin. This may be due to the fact that DEDs retain the extracellular matrix proteins and the original structure of the normal human dermis, resulting in stratified structures of keratinocytes with the same layers present in *in vivo* skin, namely; the basal, spinous, granular and corneum layers. The results of this are concurrent with a study conducted by Lamb & Ambler 2013, who also made use of DEDs to generate a stratified keratinocyte structure.

In vitro methods for propagating primary keratinocytes were developed by James Rheinwald & Howard Green. Briefly, human keratinocytes were seeded onto irradiated J2-3T3 fibroblasts in media consisting of various supplements such as insulin, hydrocortisone, cholera toxin and epidermal growth factor (Rheinwald *et al.* 1975). Recent studies still use the aforementioned techniques, with slight modifications. However, to prevent detrimental consequences such as bovine spongio-encelopathy and infections with mouse viruses, methods using serum-free, feeder-free conditions were established (Coolen *et al.* 2007).

Bullock *et al.* 2006 described methods developed in the laboratory of Sheila MacNeil, using serum-free media and human fibroblasts, as opposed to murine feeder-cells. As a result, various commercial companies have also headed in the direction of supplying serum-free, feeder-free media that allows for the propagation of keratinocytes in a 2D cell culture environment. Despite successful propagation, the capacity of these keratinocytes to properly stratify under these conditions are limited. The reasons for this are so far unknown.

Lamb & Ambler (2013) used two different serum-free, feeder-free culture media, both of which were successful in providing a suitable *in vitro* environment for primary keratinocyte propagation but these keratinocytes were unable to stratify and develop into a model comparable to *in vivo* skin. Surprisingly, this was not due to a reduced calcium concentration in the media since the increase thereof did not result in an increased capacity of keratinocyte stratification. Upon the addition of 10% Fetal-Bovine Serum (FBS) and calcium to the supplement-free media, keratinocytes began to successfully stratify. Thus, Lamb & Ambler 2013 proved that keratinocytes have the potential to stratify in an *in vitro* provided that they are grown in media supplemented with factors that are biologically active.

Commercially available keratinocytes have various properties that may alter their capacity to stratify and undergo reconstruction. These factors include the passage of the cell type, differences in the methods of isolating the cells, contamination of cell types, differences in the ages of the donor and the body-sites from which the keratinocytes were isolated. Furthermore, keratinocytes which have been passaged more than 3 times have a below-optimum ability to stratify (Gilchrest *et al.* 1983). HaCaTs are capable of being passaged a number of times after the original (Fusenig & Boukamp, 1998).

2.5.5. Keratins

Keratins make up part of the family of intermediate filamentous proteins found specifically in epithelia formed by keratinocytes (Salas *et al*, 2016). Approximately 30 proteins polymerize into filaments measuring up to 10nm in size, therein lacking auxiliary proteins (; Hatzfeld *et al.*, 1990; Steinert, 1990). Type I keratins are comprised of K9-K20, whereas type II consists of K1-K8. The amino acid sequence is found in an α -helical structure upon the central rod domain of the polypeptides (Coulombe & Fuchs, 1990; Coulombe *et al.*, 1990).

Filament assembly is a process whereby a type-I keratin and a type-II keratin assemble, forming a parallel heterodimer. Thereafter, the rod domains form a coil that subsequently connects with various dimers, resulting in tetramers allowing for the production of protofilaments and eventually, mature filaments (Hermann *et al*, 2009). In most cases, especially in epithelial tissue specific to a certain differentiation pathway, keratins are seen in particular pairs even though the identity of the type-I keratin forming heterotypic combinations with type-II, *in vitro*, is generally irrelevant in the formation of filaments in fibroblasts. (Moll *et al*. 1982. Banerjee *et al*, 2014). K5 and K14 are always found in the basal layer, which is mitotically active (Williams *et al*, 2014) and make their way via the cell cycle to the suprabasal compartment (Fuchs. 1993).

2.5.5.1 The effect of differentiation on keratins

Most often, differentiation in keratinocytes is irrevocable, allowing for a drastic change in the cytoarchitecture and the subsequent flattening of keratinocytes (Wierzbicka *et al*, 2017). Furthermore, the keratinocytes become prone to losing various organelles and their nuclei alike (Anderson *et al*, 2014). The keratins, on the other hand, remain cross-linked to a cornified envelope, consists of keratins inside an insoluble mixture of proteins that are cross-linked by transglutaminases and enclosed by a lipid envelope (Reichert *et al*. 1993. Simon. 1994. Eckert et al. 1997. Candi *et al*. 2005). Such changes are followed by the subsequent switch in the expression of keratins, whereby K5/K14 gene expression becomes downregulated in keratinocytes that migrate out of the basal stratum to the surface (Williams *et al*, 2014). The expression of genes coding for a different keratin pair varies in different types of stratified epithelia (Morgan *et al*. 1987).

Characteristically, K1/K10 are expressed in the cornified epithelium but K4/K13 is expressed in non cornified epithelia (Danielsson *et al*, 2014). K3/K12 expression is induced in the cornea (Quinlan *et al*. 1985), whereas K6/K16 expression is detected in the outer root sheath of hair follicles. Interestingly, keratin 15 (Type I) lacks a type-II keratin. (Stark *et al*. 1987. Heid *et al*.1988).

Leube *et al.* 1988 found that the mRNA of K15 is seen in all layers of stratified epithelium, using radioactive in situ hybridization. Essentially, this study, together with various others, implied that K15 is expressed in the basal layer and the expression thereof, will continue, regardless of the upward differentiation of migrating keratinocytes.

Contrastingly, Lloyd *et al.* (1995) demonstrated that K15 is absent in cells in the suprabasal layers and is found only in basal keratinocytes instead.

2.6. HaCaT cells

The HaCaT cell line is an immortalized keratinocyte cell line isolated from adult human skin by Boukamp and colleagues in 1988 (Boukamp *et al.* 1988). The cell line was originally isolated from a healthy skin specimen of male body from the melanoma and the name "HaCaT" is derived from "Human Adult keratinocytes propagated under low Calcium conditions and elevated Temperatures" (Boukamp *et al.* 1988).

The capacity of this cell line to differentiate and stratify has been widely investigated and it was found to express the majority of the markers for differentiation (Fusenig & Boukamp 1988). The cell line lacks tissue organisation when grown in organotypic co-cultures with fibroblasts, however, MaasSzabowski *et al.* (2003) demonstrate that the organization may be restored when the media is supplemented with epidermal growth factor.

2.7. Fibroblasts

Fibroblasts are the prominent cell type seen in the connective tissue of vertebrates, expressing the capacity to synthesize the extracellular connective tissue matrix. Fibrocytes are the metabolically inactive forms of fibroblasts and they play little to no role in the maintenance of the extracellular matrix and tissue (Weissmanhomer *et al.* 1975)

The physical appearance of fibroblasts is dependent on the site from which they were isolated and their respective function and activity. Fibroblasts may retain this function over a number of generations causing them to sometimes stagnate (Weissmanhomer *et al.* 1975).

Fibroblasts are identified by their branched cytoplasm, which encloses a nucleus. Metabolically-active fibroblasts have a substantially large amount of rough endoplasmic reticulum. Active fibroblasts are spindle-shaped with much fewer endoplasmic reticula. Over a wide surface area. Fibroblasts are incoherent, but become locally aligned in parallel clusters when confluence is reached (Dave & Bayless, 2014).
Fibroblasts have the capacity to synthesize a number of components vital for the structure and maintenance of the extracellular matrix, namely; collagens, glycosaminoglycans, reticular and elastic fibers and glycoproteins (Weissmanhomer *et al.* 1975).

2.8. Stromal interactions

An interaction between the neighbouring cells and the extracellular components of the neighbouring stroma are vital for the replenishment and restoration of epithelial tissue. A demonstration of such is seen in studies regarding wound-repair and transplants which support observations that tissue repair and replenishment is dependent on the action of cytokines and growth factors (Luger & Schwarz. 1990).

Similarly, Rheinwald & Green 1975, showed that the proliferation and differentiation of keratinocytes, *in vitro*, can be induced and supported by stromal cell interactions. This concept is used in 2D feeder layer organotypic co-cultures with post-mitotic fibroblasts.

It is important to note that the proliferation of keratinocytes in such cases is not only supported by the influx of growth factors provided by the fibroblasts, but rather by the continuous interaction between both cell lines in a double paracrine mechanism (Maas-Szabowski *et al.* 2001). This allows for keratinocytes to maintain the production of growth factors in fibroblasts by the secretion of interleukin-1 (IL-1) α and β , which in turn, induce the expression of keratinocyte growth factor/fibroblast growth factor 7 (KGF/Fgf-7) and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). These growth factors allow for the proliferation of keratinocytes and their expression thereof is increased during wound repair (Maas-Szabowski *et al.* 2000)

Maas-Szabowski *et a*l. 2000 proved that the double paracrine mechanism between the two cell types allows for the release of IL-1 by keratinocytes and KGF/FGF-7 and GM-CSF produced by fibroblasts, thus inducing differentiation and stratification of keratinocytes when using post-mitotic fibroblasts as a feeder layer in organo-typic co-cultures of the two cell types. The study demonstrated that these molecules constitute part of the epithelial-stromal interactions that induce and maintain tissue-repair. The study also corroborated that both growth factors are not functional in the absence of stromal cells.

Maas-Szabowski & Fusenig (1996) showed that it is especially advantageous to use post-mitotic fibroblasts as opposed to naïve fibroblasts as it will eliminate the proliferative action of fibroblasts in the co-culture, thus omitting inconsistent stromal cell numbers. Fibroblasts may become post-mitotic when exposed to γ -irradiation.

In contrast, Blanton *et al* 1991 stated that human keratinocytes involved in organotypic co-cultures did not stratify and differentiate which is in keeping with studies by Durst *et al.* 1989, Oda *et al.* 1996 and Tsuenenganga *et al.* 1994. However, a substantial number of later studies looking into stratification, indicate that immortalized human keratinocytes have a high capacity for stratification (Boukamp *et al.* 1998).

Organotypic co-cultures comprising of HaCaT cells and fibroblasts display minimum differentiation and stratification and suffer abnormal structure and keratinization (Haake & Polakowska. 1993). Comparably, HaCaT cells have the capacity to form stratified, differentiated structures, taking a much longer time to do so as opposed to normal keratinocytes. This delay is primarily due to the decreased secretion of IL-1 in HaCaT cells, resulting in a reduced expression of growth factors, KGF and GMCSF. Furthermore, the receptors of both growth factors experience a substantial decrease in expression resulting in the loss of signal transduction. In addition, in HaCaT cells there is a reduced release of the keratin growth factor, TGF- α . Thus, by adding TGF- α , HaCaT cells may regain the ability to stratify and differentiate. In addition, there is also a simultaneous increase in IL-1and the subsequent increase in KGF and GM-CSF, subsequently resulting in a functional interaction with stromal cells in effort to generate a stratified skin model from HaCaT cells comparable to normal keratinocytes (Maas-Szabowski *et al.* 2003).

CHAPTER 3 – MATERIALS & METHODS

3.1. Cell culture

3.1.1. Cell lines

For the propagation of *C. trachomatis*, the McCoy cell line (ATCC@ number CRL – 1696) was used. This is an immortalised, adherent mouse fibroblast cell line, commonly used for the propagation of chlamydia.

A spontaneously immortalized human keratinocyte cell line, known as the HaCaT cell line, was used for the generation of the stratified keratinocyte model. The cell line was donated by Professor Norbet E. Fusenig of the Cancer Research Centre, Heidelberg, Germany).

3.1.2. Cell Culture Media

3.1.2.1. McCoy cells

For the McCoy cell line, Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) (BioWhittaker[™], Walkersville, USA) supplemented with Earle's Balanced Salt Solution (EBSS), HEPES (25mM) (BioWhittaker[™], Walkersville, USA) and L-glutamine (2mM) (BioWhittaker[™], Walkersville, USA) was used. HEPES buffer assists in maintaining the pH at 7.4. Glutamine, is separately added to the media since it breaks down faster in complete media compared to other amino acids (ATCC technical information).

3.1.2.2. HaCaT cells

HaCaT cells are a spontaneously immortalized human adult skin keratinocyte cell line developed by Boukamp and team in 1988 (Boukamp *et al.* 1988). This cell line has been nontumerogenic for over 300 passages, which spans over 6 years in culture (*Boukamp et al.* 1994). The cell line is capable of expressing all epidermal differentiation markers, even though it undergoes various chromosomal changes whilst adapting to autonomous growth *in vitro* (Boukamp *et al.* 1988). When grown in organotypic cocultures with fibroblasts, HaCaT cells display little to no tissue organization, however, this is restored when supplemented with epidermal growth factor (Boukamp *et al.* 1998).

The cell line is widely studied in cell-cycle research (Chaturvedi *et al.* 1999), carcinogenesis (Boukamp *et al.* 1994) and they are susceptible to apoptosis (Lee *et al.* 2005).

For this study, HaCaT cells were propagated in Hyclone Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with HEPES (10mM) and used as a result of lab-availability. Sterile heatinactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco[™], Scientific group) was added to the media to provide various cytokines and growth factors required for the regulation of cell propagation, growth and differentiation.

For the development of the stratified keratinocyte model, HaCaT cells were grown in Hyclone DMEM supplemented with both, 10% FBS and 1.4 mM CaCl₂.

Upon confluency, cells were exposed to the air-liquid interface, where FBS and CaCl₂ supplemented KGM-Gold[™] Keratinocyte Growth Medium with Bulletkit[™] (Lonza) was added to the bottom chamber. Bullet kit[™] contains hydrocortisone (0.5ml), bovine pituitary extract (BPE) (2ml), human recombination epidermal growth factor (rhEGF) (0.5ml), transferrin (0.5ml), epinephrine (0.25ml), GA-1000 (0.5ml) and insulin (0.5ml).

Incubation of cultures for all experiments were carried out in an incubator with 5% CO_2 in 95% air, either at 33°C or 37°C.

3.1.3. Cultivation and revival

Cells suspended in storage media in cryovials were kept at -70°C for short term storage or at -96°C for long term storage. When required, cells were thawed by placing the cryovial in a beaker with water at 37°C. Thereafter, the cryovial was gently swirled, the outside swabbed with 70% ethanol and moved into a class II biosafety cabinet where cells were seeded in a 75 cm² tissue culture flask with the appropriate cell culture medium with a temperature of 37°C. Thereafter, the flask was incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

To observe confluency of the cells and to determine possible contamination or cell deterioration, cells were viewed with an inverted microscope every day. Media was changed every other day, where spent media was discarded and cells were washed 3 times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Dulbecco A Oxoid) with Ca2+ or Mg2+ pH 7.2 to eliminate residual FBS and cells that were not attached. Thereafter, fresh cell culture media, supplemented with 10% FBS, was added to the flask, followed by reincubation.

Subculturing was conducted when the monolayer reached 90% confluency. Cells were seeded into new culture flasks to maintain stock, in 24-well plates for experiments or in cryovials for storage. The subculturing technique remains the same for all cell lines, except for HaCaT cells, which need one extra step. After washing the keratinocyte monolayer 3 times with PBS, pH 7.4, 2ml 0.05 ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid (EDTA) solution (Sigma, Steinhein, Germany) is added to the flask and incubated for 5-10 minutes at 37°C. Once intracellular spaces were microscopically detected, EDTA was removed.

After this step, the procedure remains standardized for all cell lines. One ml 0.05% trypsin – 0.02% Versene (EDTA) solution (BioWhittaker TM) in PBS, pH 7.4. is added. The flask is then gently swirled, ensuring total coverage of the surface area of the flask. After incubation for 1 minute at 37°C, the flask is gently tapped to assist detaching of the cells. Thereafter, 1ml undiluted FBS is added to the flask to neutralize the trypsin. This was done with a Pasteur pipette, by squirting FBS against the back of the flask, thus removing detached cells. The cell suspension was decanted to be seeded or cryopreserved.

For cryopreservation, cell suspensions with an equal volume of storage fluid (Appendix), which was added drop by drop to the suspension, was aliquotted into the cryovials and sealed with parafilm. The name of the cell–line, storage date, passage number and the cell concentration was recorded on each cryovial.

3.1.4. Determining the cell numbers

In order to deduce the number of viable and non-viable cells, the Trypan Blue Dye Exclusion Assay was conducted, using a Neubauer haemocytometer.

Once it was wiped with 70% ethanol, the haemocytometer was covered with a square coverslip and 20 μ l cell suspension was added to 20 μ l 0.4% trypan blue solution (Sigma) and thoroughly mixed. A drop of the mixture was then placed at the edge of the coverslip, where it was drawn in to fill the counting chamber. Viable and dead cells are easily differentiated when viewing under a light microscope, since trypan blue remains in dead cells and is excluded from viable cells, allowing dead cells to appear blue and viable cells colourless. The number of clear and blue cells were counted in the 5 primary squares (Maleka *et al.* 1996). Clumped cells were counted as though they were separate individual cells. If too many clumps were seen, the suspension was mixed again and the procedure was repeated. Since the volume of each primary square is $1X10^{-4}$ ml, the following formula was used to calculate the concentration of cells per ml:

Concentration = $N/5 \times 10^4 \times$

Where N= total number of cells in the 5 primary squares.

The total cell number was calculated by the following:

Total cell number = concentration (cells/ml) X total volume (ml)

The percentage cell viability was calculated as follows:

% cell viability = (Number of viable cells) / (Total number of cells) X 100

On the occasion that the number of cells in each primary square was too many to count, the cell suspension was diluted with PBS and the Trypan Blue Exclusion Assay was repeated.

3.2. Bacterial culture

Chlamydia trachomatis L2 strain 434 (ATCC® number VR-902BTM) was used for this study. This strain was originally isolated from a bubonic aspirate of a military service man returning from Asia who presented with typical LGV symptoms (Schachter *et al.* 1969).

3.2.1. Propagation and storage of C.trachomatis

McCoy cells were cultured in 75cm² tissue culture flasks and passaged according to the procedure described above. The cell cultures were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO2 until the monolayer of cells reached 80-90% confluency. Confluency and possible potential contamination was assessed by viewing the cells on a daily basis with an inverted microscope. Media was changed every second day.

When the desired confluency was reached, spent media was aspirated from the flask. Thereafter, the monolayer was washed three times with PBS. Twenty µl Chlamydia Growth Medium for propagation (CGM-P) was added to the flask. CGM-P consists of EMEM (BioWhittaker[™]) with Earle's Balanced Salt Solution (EBSS) (Gibco®), non-esseential amino acids (NEAA) and sodium pyruvate, supplemented with 10mM HEPES, 2mM L-glutamine, 1µg/ml cycloheximide, 5.4 mg/ml glucose, and 10% FBS. In addition, gentamicin (10µg/ml), and amphotericin B (5µg/ml) were added.

Chlamydial elementary bodies suspended in 100 µl sucrose-phosphate buffer (SPG) were added to the flask. A flask to which 100 µl SPG without chlamydia was added served as the negative control. Flasks were centrifuged for 1 hour at 1200g at room temperature in a temperature controlled centrifuge and incubated for a further hour at 37°C. A media change with CGM-P supplemented with 10% FBS was then conducted to remove any dead and unattached cells. The flasks were incubated at 37°C for 48 hours.

3.2.2. Propagation of chlamydia

After 48 hours, the cultures were viewed with the inverted microscope to detect chlamydial inclusions. CGM-P media was removed from the flasks and the monolayers were washed with PBS. SPG supplemented with 10% FBS was added as well as sterile glass beads. The flasks were vortexed to disrupt the McCoy cell monolayer, thus releasing chlamydial EBs. The cell lysate containing chlamydial EBs was transferred to a clean centrifuge tube. Cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 1000 x g

for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant containing the chlamydial EBs was transferred to a clean centrifuge tube, aliquoted and frozen at -80°C. The pellet containing cell debris was discarded.

3.2.3. Determination of the infectious titre

Serial 10-fold dilutions of the *C. trachomatis* isolate were prepared and used to inoculate McCoy cells grown in a 96-well microtitre plate to 80% confluency. Cells were centrifuged at 1200 x g for 1 hour at room temperature and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. Spent media was removed and replaced with fresh CGM, followed by further incubation at 37°C in 5% CO₂. After incubating for 48 hours, infection of the monolayers was confirmed using the MicroTrak® *C. trachomatis* Culture Confirmation Test Kit.

This kit involves contains monoclonal antibodies against an antigenic determinant of the major outer membrane protein (MOMP) found in the outer membrane of all known serovars of *C. trachomatis*. These antibodies are labelled with FITC. *C. trachomatis*-positive cultures will be identified by the presence of green fluorescing intracellular chlamydial inclusions, against a background of red cells due to the Evans Blue counterstain. Assuming that each inclusion body evolves from one EB, the number of inclusions can be enumerated per field of view, allowing for the determination of the infectious titre. The required calculation for determining the infectious titre is as follows:

Conc. (CFU/ml) = (# of inclusions/n) x (100ul/V) x (C x D) Where:

- n = # of fields counted
- V = Volume of the inoculum (ml)
- C = Objective lens conversion factor
- D = Dilution factor (ml)

3.3. Preparation of a stratified keratinocyte model

A vial of stored HaCaT cells was revived as per 3.1.3. Once the cells were 80% confluent, they were trypsinised and seeded into 24 well plates, in which polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) membrane inserts (Pore size 3um) (Costar) had been placed. Cells were seeded at a cell density of 1×10^6 cells/ml.

A volume of 600 μ l cell culture medium (Hyclone DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS was added at the bottom chamber, whereas 100 μ l cell suspension in culture medium (Hyclone DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS added to the upper chamber. Cells were then incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ and a media change was conducted every second day.

Upon confluency, cells were exposed to the air-liquid interface by replacing medium in the bottom chamber with KGM-Gold media prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions. This medium was supplemented with 10% FBS and the CaCl₂ concentration was raised from 0.1mM to 1.4 mM to facilitate stratification and differentiation (Lamb and Ambler, 2013).

Thereafter, inserts were incubated at either 33°C or 37°C for 2 weeks and 3.5 weeks.

Controls were also prepared as outlined above. These cells were not exposed to the air-liquid interface and were incubated for 1 week and at both temperatures.

3.4. Infection of the stratified keratinocyte model with C. trachomatis

Spent media was discarded and fresh CGM-P was added to all wells. The volume of fresh media added was 600 μ l to the bottom chamber, and 50 μ l to the upper chamber. *C. trachomatis* L2 elementary bodies (infectious titre: 1.5x10⁹ cells/ml) were prepared in SPG with FBS to a concentration of 4x10⁷ EB/ml.

Fifty μ l of the EB suspension in SPG-FBS was added to the upper chamber and the plates were incubated at 33°C and 37°C respectively for 3 hours. Thereafter, media was removed from the upper chambers followed by incubation at their respective temperatures for a further week to allow for penetration to the underlying layers.

Cycloheximide was omitted from the medium, since it would negatively affect eukaryotic cell replication, thus preventing an *in vivo*-like environment (Elela *et al.* 1997).

Control wells seeded with 50 μ l SPG with FBS in the upper chamber instead of chlamydia suspension were incubated at both 33°C and 37°C.

3.5. Histology

Various histology techniques were used to compare whether or not a stratified layer of keratinocytes was formed and how closely the *in vitro* system mimicked human skin *in vivo*. Histological observations were used to select the temperature and duration of incubation that allowed keratinocytes to differentiate and most closely approximate the structure of the *in vivo* epidermis for use in future experiments.

Once the system was optimised, the cells were infected with *C. trachomatis* and stained with the MicroTrak ® *C. trachomatis* Culture Confirmation Test Kit to confirm infection and track the migration of *C. trachomatis* through the layers. Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining and immunohistochemistry was performed on infected cell cultures to detected structural changes.

For histology, cells were fixed, embedded in a paraffin block, cut in thin sections, stained and visualised using an appropriate microscope.

3.5.1. Preparation of Costar ® Transwell ® Inserts for histology

In order to prepare the Transwell inserts for histology, a protocol by Corning Incorporated (Corning New York) was used. The procedure was carried out with minor modifications as follows: Transwell membranes were rinsed with Hank's Buffered Saline Solution (HBSS) (37°C). The HBSS was added slowly and aspirated carefully thereafter so that neither surface of the membrane was touched. The membrane is extremely delicate therefore it was of utmost importance that it was handled with care, to prevent shredding or tearing. The rinse procedure was repeated.

Thereafter, 10 % phosphate buffered formalin (pH 7.4) brought at room temperature was added to the wells and membrane inserts. The plate was then left in the biosafety cabinet at room temperature to

allow for fixation. After 1 hour, the membrane inserts were rinsed with HBSS (37°C). The inserts were then dehydrated by replacing the HBSS with ethanol in a graded series of concentration, as follows: 35% ethanol for 10 minutes; 50% ethanol for 10 minutes; 70% ethanol for 10 minutes; 95% ethanol for 10 minutes; 100% ethanol for 10 minutes and 100% ethanol for 10 minutes.

The 100% ethanol was then replaced with Isopropanol. The isopropanol was left to infiltrate the cells and membranes for 10 minutes and this step was repeated. Once the isopropanol was removed from the wells and membrane inserts, liquid paraffin (58°C) was added. The plate was then placed in an oven (58°C) for 1 hour. Thereafter, the paraffin was changed and left in the oven for a further hour. The plate was then removed from the oven and the paraffin was allowed to solidify. By warming the outside of the plate, the inserts were removed whilst still containing solid paraffin on the inside of the inserts.

For each step of this procedure, the volume of the reagent added to the wells remained standardized: 600 μ l at the bottom chamber and 100 μ l at the upper chamber.

Using a small scalpel blade that had been wiped with 70% ethanol, the membrane (with attached paraffin) was cut from the insert. The paraffin embedded membrane was then placed into a paraffin boat. The plug was held in a vertical, upright position using a clean pair of forceps whilst the paraffin was poured over it. This orientation allowed for a cross section view of the cells after sectioning.

Thin sections of 8 μ m of the paraffin-embedded membrane were cut according to standard histology procedure using a microtome. The sections were mounted on glass slides and left to dry.

3.5.2. Hematoxylin and Eosin staining

H&E staining was used to determine the resemblance of the stratified keratinocytes to *in vivo* human skin. This staining technique was also used after infection with *C. trachomatis* (see below), in addition to the MicroTrak ® *C. trachomatis* Culture Confirmation Test Kit. The haematoxylin stains the nuclei of cells, causing them to appear a distinct shade of blue. The counterstaining with a solution of eosin Y (alcoholic or aqueous) causes other eosophilic structures to appear red, pink or orange.

H & E staining was performed as follows using the method described by Luna (1960):

Thin sections were deparaffinised. This was done using a series of decreasing concentration of ethanol. Slides were dipped in 100% ethanol followed by 90% ethanol, 70% ethanol, 50% ethanol, 30% ethanol and distilled water. Mercuric chloride crystals were removed by dipping slides in iodine. Slides were then flooded with Mayers hematoxylin for 15 minutes. Thereafter, they were washed with running tap water for 20 minutes and counterstained with eosin for 1 minute. Lastly, the thin sections were dehydrated in 95% and 100% alcohol, in order to remove the excess eosin. The sections were then visualised using a bright field microscope.

3.5.3. Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescence was used to determine whether or not the keratinocytes had differentiated. Mouse derived primary antibodies against keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin were used. A goat anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) was used to facilitate detection. The antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Dallas, Texas, U.S.A).

After staining, thin sections were mounted using Prolong Gold anti-fade with DAPI and viewed and photographed using the Evos[™] FL Cell Imaging System with appropriate filters.

The protocol for immunofluorescence staining was carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions with minor optimizing modifications. The procedure was conducted as follows:

Thin sections were deparaffinised in xylene. Although the protocol suggests three changes for five minutes each, the slides were dipped in xylene once for approximately 30 seconds only. This was done because the 3 x 5 minutes were too harsh on the sections as they were being washed away during the trial run.

The sections were then hydrated gradually through graded alcohol. The original protocol suggested washing in 100% ethanol twice for 10 minutes each, then 95% ethanol twice for 10 minutes each and finally washing in deionized water for 1 minute with stirring. However, since this was also found to be

too harsh during the trial run, the slides were only dipped in the respective concentrations of alcohol for approximately 30 seconds each.

Antigen unmasking was then conducted by placing the slides in a container with enough 10mM Sodium Citrate Buffer, pH 3.5 with 0.01% (w/v) EDTA to cover the slides. The container was then placed in a water bath at 95°C for 5 minutes. It was then topped off with fresh buffer and left in the water bath for an additional 5 minutes. Slides were then allowed to cool in the buffer for 20 minutes and washed in deionized water three times for two minutes each. Excess liquid was then aspirated from the slides.

Slides were then incubated at room temperature with blocking serum (10% goat serum in PBS) for 20 minutes. This allows for the suppression of non-specific binding of secondary antibodies. Blocking serum is derived from the same species in which the secondary antibody is raised. After 20 minutes, the slides were washed with PBS.

A 1:50 dilution was chosen for each primary antibody (200 μ g/ml) in PBS with 0.15% blocking serum. The slides were then incubated with the diluted primary antibody (4 μ l/ml) for 60 minutes at room temperature. Thereafter, slides were washed three times with PBS.

The slides were then incubated for 45 minutes in a dark chamber with FITC-conjugated secondary antibody diluted in PBS with 1.5% blocking serum. Thereafter, slides were washed three times with PBS. This step needed optimisation which is discussed in chapter 4.

To confirm that non-specific binding of the secondary antibodies had not occurred, slides with cells incubated at either 33°C or 37°C were prepared as per the procedure outlined above whilst omitting the step involving incubation with the primary antibody.

Coverslips were then mounted onto the slides using Prolong Gold Antifade with DAPI and viewed with the Evos[™] FL Cell Imaging System and appropriate filters.

CHAPTER 4 – RESULTS

4.1 Optimisation of methodology

The methodology applied in our experiments is based on publications on similar work with keratinocytes. Some aspects had to be optimized for working with HaCaT cells. This included the duration of incubation, the working dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies used for immunofluorescence tests and keratinocyte-fibroblast organotypic co-cultures.

4.1.1 Duration of incubation

In order to determine which duration of incubation at both 33°C and 37°C, was sufficient for developing stratified keratinocytes, HaCaT cells were grown in DMEM with 10% FBS on collagen coated PTFE Transwell membrane inserts. Upon confluency, which was reached after approximately 11 days of incubation at 37°C, cells were exposed to the air-liquid interface by removing the media from the upper chambers and replacing the spent media in the bottom chambers with KGM-Gold media supplemented with 10% FBS and 1.4mM CaCl₂. The wells containing the inserts were then incubated at 33°C and 37°C for 14 days and 24 days Fresh media was fed from the bottom chamber every other day.

Inserts were then embedded in paraffin, cut in thin sections (3.5.1) and stained with H & E stain (3.5.2).

Figure 4.1 shows the extent of stratification that had occurred in keratinocytes after 14 days of incubation at 33°C and 37°C compared to the keratinocyte stratification observed after 24 days of incubation at the same temperatures. Figure 1 shows that keratinocytes have the potential to stratify at 33°C, regardless of the duration of incubation since more than one layer is depicted.

Although stratification is seen after 14 days of incubation at 33°C and 37°C, the layering is more distinct and visible after incubation for 24 days at both temperatures. In addition, the keratinocyte layers that had formed after 24 days were more intact, looked more complete and resembled *in vivo* skin closer than those that were produced after only 14 days.

14 days

24 days



37°C

Figure 4.1: Comparison of differentiation of HaCaT cells grown at 33°C and 37°C for 14 days and 24 days (X1000).

4.1.2 Dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies for Immunohistochemistry

Cells grown at the air-liquid interface at 37°C for 24 days were prepared, cut into thin sections and placed on Apex BOND adhesive slides (Leica Biosystems Inc. Illinois, USA). Thereafter, the sections were prepared for immunohistochemistry (3.5.3) and stained with antibodies to Keratin 10, Keratin 14 and Involucrin. Dilutions of 1:50 and 1:500 were prepared for the primary antibodies, whilst 1:100 and 1:400 dilutions of FITC-conjugated secondary antibody were prepared. The optimal combination of dilutions of both antibodies was then determined.

Figure 4.2A shows that fluorescence was detected after staining with the different combinations of antibody dilutions. For keratin 10 detection a 1:50 dilution of the primary antibodies and a 1:400 dilution of the secondary antibodies gave the brightest fluorescence and was therefore used in experiments.

The different combinations of antibodies to detect keratin 14 and involucrin all produced similar levels of fluorescence. However, the involucrin antibody combinations showed brighter fluorescence except for the combination of the highest dilutions. This is shown in Figures 4.2A and 4.2B. In the experiments the lowest dilutions of both antibodies were used for the detection of both.

Anti-Keratin 10 1:50 FITCconjugated secondary antibody 1:100 Anti-Keratin 10 1:50 FITCconjugated secondary antibody 1:400



Anti-Keratin 10 1:500 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:100



Anti-Keratin 10 1:500 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:400



Figure 4.2A: Comparison of fluorescence produced after staining thin sections of layered keratinocytes with various combinations of dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies to keratin 10 (X40).

Anti-Keratin 14 1:50 FITCconjugated secondary antibody 1:100 Anti-Keratin 14 1:50 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:400



Anti-Keratin 14 1:500 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:100



Anti-Keratin 14 1:500 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:400





Figure 4.2B: Comparison of fluorescence produced after staining thin sections of layered keratinocytes with various combinations of dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies to keratin 14 (X40).

Anti-Involucrin 1:50 FITCconjugated secondary antibody 1:100 Anti-Involucrin 1:50 FITCconjugated secondary antibody 1:400



Anti-Involucrin 1:500 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:100 Anti-Involucrin 1:500 FITC-conjugated secondary antibody 1:400



Figure 4.2C: Comparison of fluorescence produced after staining thin sections of layered keratinocytes with various combinations of dilutions of primary and secondary antibodies to involucrin (X40).

4.1.3 The use of organotypic co-cultures grown on a collagen matrix as an additional and alternate method to generate a stratified keratinocyte structure

Co-cultures of HaCaT cells and fibroblasts to generate a stratified *in vitro* model were performed as previously described by Stark *et al*, 1999. Briefly, collagen type 1 (4mg/ml) from rat's tail (Sigma) was prepared by dissolving it in 0.1% acetic acid and mixing it with 10X HBSS. The pH of the mixture was then neutralized with 2M NaOH to pH 7. MRHF Human Dermal Fibroblasts were treated with mitomycin (0.4mg/ml) for 4 minutes at 37°C in order to halt replication. The non-dividing fibroblasts were trypsinized, enumerated in a haemocytometer, and mixed with the prepared collagen solution to reach a concentration of $6x10^5$ cells/ml. This fibroblast suspension in collagen solution was cast onto polycarbonate Transwell filter inserts with pores of 3 µm diameter (Costar®). After 24 hours, HaCaT cells were seeded (1x10⁶ cells/ml) onto the fibroblast containing collagen type 1 gels in the Transwell inserts. These co-cultures were incubated for 24 hours at 33°C and 37°C, after which media was replaced with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 50 µg/ml L-ascorbic acid. Media was replaced three times per week.

Once confluent, cells were exposed to the air-liquid interface and fed with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 50 μ g/ml L-ascorbic acid, 2 μ g/ml TGF- α (R&D Systems) and 5 μ g/ml L-1 (R&D Systems). Once exposed to the air-liquid interface, inserts would have been incubated at their respective temperatures for an intended period of 24 days.

It is for this reason that we reverted to commercially available collagen coated inserts, as seen in this study.

Figure 4.3 shows that after just two weeks of incubation at 33°C and 37°C, the collagen present in the inserts had shrunk. HaCaT cells seeded onto the collagen and fibroblast mixture had not even reached confluency before the shrinkage had occurred. The collagen is seen as the white circles situated inside the inserts of the wells. The collagen is supposed to cover the surface area of the membrane insert for the entire incubation period. However, it was found that the collagen only covered a fraction of the

membrane. The level of shrinkage of the collagen on the inserts incubated at 37°C was more than on those incubated at 33°C.



Figure 4.3: Collagen shrinkage in the fibroblast-keratinocyte co-cultures after 14 days of incubation at 33°C (a) and 37°C (b).

4.2 Infection of stratified keratinocytes grown at 33°C and 37°C with Chlamydia trachomatis

HaCaT cell cultures on commercially available collagen coated PTFE Transwell membrane inserts were prepared as described in 3.3. Upon confluency, after approximately 11 days, cells were raised to the air-liquid interface and spent media in the bottom chamber was replaced every other day with fresh KGM-Gold media supplemented with 10 % FBS and 1.4 mM CaCl₂. The cells were then incubated for 24 days at 33°C and 37°C. The HaCaT layers were then infected with *C. trachomatis*, L2 strain and incubated for a further week (3.4.).

The membrane inserts were then prepared for histology as described in 3.5.1.

Figure 4.4 shows that with H&E staining there were no structural differences in the infected or uninfected keratinocyte layers incubated at 33°C (Figure 4 a and b). In contrast, the infected stratified keratinocyte layers incubated at 37°C was disintegrated compared to the uninfected control incubated at the same temperature (Figure 4.4 c and d). Furthermore, in comparison, the infected keratinocyte layers incubated at 33°C was less affected than the infected layer incubated at 37°C (Figure 4.4 a compared to Figure 4.4 c). Although impairments are observed in the infected cell layers, multiple layers of keratinocytes are still seen in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4: The comparison of the effect that *Chlamydia trachomatis* has on differentiated, polarised HaCaT cells at different temperatures.

Images from H&E staining shows cells that were incubated at 33°C (a) and 37°C (c). Uninfected HaCaT structures were also incubated at 33°C (b) and 37°C (d) X1000.

4.3 C. trachomatis infection of stratified HaCaT cells at 37°C and 33°C

In order to demonstrate the effect that *C. trachomatis* has on stratified keratinocyte layers at 33°C and 37°C, HaCaT cells grown at the air-liquid interface at the respective temperatures were infected with *C.trachomatis* and incubated for 7 days. The membrane inserts were then embedded in paraffin and sectioned (8 microns). In order to confirm infection with *C. trachomatis*, sections were stained with the Microtrak chlamydia trachomatis confirmation kit reagents. Sections were then viewed with the InvitrogenTM EVOSTM TL Cell imaging system.

Figure 4.5 shows infection was successful at both temperatures with cells containing *C. trachomatis* inclusions. Infected cells fluoresce green and uninfected cells red. There are less red cells in the keratinocyte layers incubated at 37°C as compared those incubated at 33°C, indicating that more cells were infected at 37°C. This is in keeping with the observation (4.2) that the keratinocyte layers incubated at 37°C are more disintegrated and broken than at 33°C.







Figure 4.5: *Chlamydia trachomatis* infected layered keratinocytes stained with the MicroTrak ® *C. trachomatis* Culture Confirmation Test Kit reagents. Scale bar: 64μm (33°C); 125μm (37°C). Magnification: 70% (33°C); 50% (37°C).

4.4 Differentiation of chlamydia infected HaCaT cells

Membrane inserts with chlamydia infected keratinocyte layers as well as uninfected controls were processed as described in 3.5.1. The thin sections were stained with antibodies to keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin.

Figure 4.6 shows the presence of keratin 10, keratin 14 and incolucrin. For keratin 10 and involucrin, fluorescence is more intense at 33°C than 37°C. For keratin 14, fluorescence is more intense at 37°C. In addition, Figure 4.7 also shows that all sections from the structure of stratified keratinocytes incubated at 33°C were much more intact and unbroken compared to the brittle and disintegrated layers observed in the sections from structures incubated at 37°C, concurring with observations in Figures 4.4 and 4.5.

Figure 4.7 shows that non-specific binding of antibodies had not occurred after controls for nonspecific binding were prepared (3.5.3). White light images seen in Figure 4.7 b and d indicate the presence of the section, even though fluorescence was not detected.



Figure 4.6: Confirmation of differentiation by the expression of keratinocyte markers (a-f).

Scale bar (a-f): 100µm; 57µm; 43µm; 67µm; 100µm; 125µm.



Figure 4.7: Control demonstrating that non-specific binding had not occurred (a-d). Scale bar: 125µm.

4.5 Controls for stratification of keratinocytes

In order to demonstrate the difference in the stratification and differentiation in keratinocytes after 7 days of incubation at either temperature (33°C and 37°C), as opposed to that after 24 days of incubation, HaCaT cells were grown on PTFE collagen inserts for 7 days in KGM-Gold media supplemented with

10% FBS and 1.4 mM calcium at 33°C and 37°C. Inserts were embedded in paraffin and sectioned. H& E staining was then performed on the sections

Figure 4.8 shows that only one solid and intact layer of keratinocytes was seen after 7 days of incubation at 33°C and 37°C, indicating that the keratinocytes had not stratified.



Figure 4.8: H& E stain of the control which demonstrates the staining pattern in non-polarised, non-differentiated keratinocytes incubated for 7 days at 33° C (a X400 and b X1000) and 37° (c X400 and d X1000).

CHAPTER 5 – DISCUSSION

Studies on stratification experiments have been limited mostly to primary human keratinocytes, which have been found to stratify and differentiate more easily and efficiently than keratinocytes cell lines (Lamb and Ambler, 2013).

Our study focused on generating *in vitro* stratified keratinocyte layers using HaCaT cells grown on collagen-coated PTFE Transwell® membrane inserts, instead of aiding stratification with additional cytokines and growth factors such as TGF- α and KGF. The aim was to use this to study the pathogenesis of *C. trachomatis*, since its LGV biovar has human skin as its primary target.

Methods to do so were first optimized for HaCaT cells. Stratification took place at both 33°C and 37°C. Although stratification was more prominent in keratinocyte layers incubated at 37°C, the expression of keratin 10 and involucrin were more intense in layers incubated at 33°C. *C. trachomatis* infection was successful in cells grown at both temperatures. However, more infected cells were seen at 37°C than at 33°C.

Marcello *et al* 1978, showed that after 3-4 days of incubation at 32°C - 33°C, a complete monolayer of Normal Epidermal Keratinocytes (NEKs) had formed and by 5-6 days, a second layer formed over the majority of the surface layer. These authors found that the upper layer constituted of cells with a

fibril network, allowing for a "basket weave" appearance of the keratinocytes. Stratification proceeded over 11 days in culture and after a total of 14 days, clumps of cells were visible. This primary keratinocyte model showed complete culture stratification, differentiation and proliferation after a 3 or more week incubation period. From this study (Marcello *et al*, 1978), it can be deduced that an incubation period of less than 3 weeks is not sufficient for stratification, differentiation and proliferation of keratinocytes. Our results with HaCaT cells shown in Figure 4.1 concur with these findings observed with NEK cells since a more intact HaCaT keratinocyte structure is seen after incubation for 24 days than after 14 days.

Breitkreutz *et al*, 1998, reported that the differentiation of HaCaT cells improved after approximately 21 days of incubation at 37°C, since typical features of differentiation, such as attachment structures and a basement membrane (BM) similar to NEKs were detected. Our study supports this finding (Fig 4.1).

Although more than one layer is seen in keratinocytes incubated for 14 days, thicker and clearer suprabasal layers are seen in keratinocytes incubated for 24 days. This indicates that HaCaT cells require three or more weeks to produce a differentiated and polarized structure comparable to human skin. It was for this reason that an incubation period of 24 days was used in all downstream experiments in this study, regardless of temperature.

When preparing the membranes for histology, the membranes were left inside the inserts since these are extremely delicate and needed to be handled carefully. Having the cells on the membrane whilst it is still in the insert, as opposed to using a loose membrane, prevents potential damage to the cells.

The manufacturer's protocol for immunofluorescence staining called for heating of sections at 95°C (to facilitate antigen retrieval) in a microwave for two 5 minute intervals in a 10mM sodium citrate buffer, pH 3.5 with 0.01% (w/v) EDTA. However, there were no sections present on the slides after this step was conducted. To rule out the possibility of micro waving being too harsh, the sections were placed in a glass container with pre-heated 10mM sodium citrate buffer, pH 3.5 with 0.01% (w/v) EDTA. The container was then placed into a water bath at 95° for 10 minutes. This allowed for the sections to still be visible on the slides after heat-treatment.

A calcium gradient in the epidermis contributes towards the regulation of the process of differentiation in keratinocytes during their progression through various layers of the epidermis, eventually resulting in a permeable stratum corneum (Bikle *et al.* 2012). In our studies, the calcium concentration in the media was raised to 1.4mM in an effort to ensure that stratification and differentiation of HaCaT cells occurred. The KBM-Gold media, with which the cells were fed when exposed to the air-liquid interface, already had a calcium concentration of 0.1mM.

Although the exact role of calcium in keratinocyte differentiation remains unknown (Shrestha *et al.* 2016), it does affect signalling pathways such as the formation of desmosomes, adherens junctions and tight junctions (Bikle *et al.* 2012). In addition, the calcium receptor plays a pivotal role in promoting intracellular signalling processes which facilitate differentiation once extracellular calcium is detected (Bikle *et al.* 2012).

An increase in the extracellular calcium concentration allows for the internal release of, and an influx of calcium through the respective calcium channels in the plasma membrane (Lee *et al.* 1991). In turn, this facilitates cell to cell adhesion (Hennings *et al.* 1983) and increases the intracellular free calcium concentration, which regulates the differentiation of keratinocytes (Hennings *et al.* 1981).

Keratinocytes transcend from the stratum basale to the stratum corneum, and during that process they undergo terminal differentiation. This can be reproduced by growing keratinocytes in media that is enriched with a high calcium concentration (Henning *et al.* 1980). *In vitro* keratinocytes appear to look like basal epidermal cells and do not differentiate in media with a reduced calcium concentration (less than 0.03mM). However, at calcium concentrations over 0.1mM, keratinocytes resemble suprabasal epidermal cells and are seen to successfully differentiate (Hennings *et al.* 1981).

A study by Steven *et al.* 1983, which investigated the regulation of differentiation of NEKs by calcium, demonstrated that a calcium concentration of 0.3mM in the media, allowed for a colonyforming efficiency of 30% and a cellular multiplication rate of 0.96 doublings per day. An increased calcium concentration (0.1mM) allowed for stratification and terminal differentiation of the NEKs and this was determined by counting the number of cornified envelopes that remained after boiling in sodium dodecyl sulphate with dithithreitol.

Similarly, another study by Hennings *et al.* 1980, investigated the role of calcium in the differentiation of cultured mouse keratinocytes. In an environment where calcium in the medium was approximately 0.05mM-0.1mM, increased proliferation of the keratinocytes and production of keratin took place, albeit no stratification was seen. Upon ultrastructural examination after cells were subcultured in a reduced calcium environment, a vast majority of intracellular spaces was seen. The initiation of terminal differentiation was then conducted by increasing the concentration of calcium in the media to 1.2mM, thereby substantially improving cell to cell contact and the formation of desmosomes in only 2 hours. After 2 days, stratification of the cells was observed and terminal differentiation, indicated by cell sloughing, took place after 3 days.

More recently, a study by Lamb and Ambler, 2013, investigated the stratification displayed by keratinocytes in various media types with varying concentrations of calcium. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining showed that low calcium medium (0.05mM), supplemented with 10% serum did not result in the differentiation and stratification of NEKs. Contrastingly, cells grown in an environment with increased calcium (1.4mM) allowed for the production of two clearly visible layers of nucleated cells, indicating that an increased calcium environment is essential for the stratification and differentiation of keratinocytes.

In order to examine an alternate method of developing stratified keratinocyte layers with HaCaT cells, organotypic co-cultures of HaCaT cells and fibroblasts were grown on a collagen bed.

Stromal interactions, initiated by IL-1 are required for differentiation and this cytokine is present in NEKs but reduced in HaCaT cells (Maas-Szabowski *et al*, 2003). These interactions allow for the subsequent production of various growth factors such as keratinocyte growth factor (KGF/FGF-7) and granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) in fibroblasts (Maas-Szabowski *et al*. 2001). These factors in turn stimulate growth and differentiation of keratinocytes. The expression of the receptors for these growth factors in HaCaT cells is substantially reduced, suggesting that simply adding KGF and GM-CSF to the media, will not be sufficient to promote stratification and differentiation of the HaCaT cells (Maas-Szabowski *et al*. 2003). In addition, the release of the keratinocyte growth factor TGF- α is also reduced in HaCaT cells (Maas-Szabowski *et al*. 2003).

Maas-Szabowski *et al.* 2003, investigated the stratification and differentiation of HaCaT cells grown as part of organotypic co-cultures with fibroblasts, with the addition of various growth factors and compared it to that seen in NEKs. The study found that co-cultures supplemented with TGF^{\Box} and IL-1 allowed for the increased expression of KGF and GM-CSF, thereby producing a differentiated and stratified model of HaCaT cells comparable to both, NEKS and human *in vivo* skin.

We used the same method for growing organotypic co-cultures of HaCaT cells and fibroblasts in order to examine an alternate method of generating an *in vitro* model of stratified keratinocytes that closely resembled *in vivo* skin as opposed to only growing HaCaT cells at the air-liquid interface in PTFE-collagen coated membrane inserts. However, the outcome of our attempt differed from the results seen by Maas-Szabowski *et al.* 2003 in that the collagen had shrunk after being incubated with fibroblast-HaCaT co-cultures at both 33°C and 37°C (Figure 4.3).

A study by Li and Wang, 2011, investigated the role of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in wound healing. Cell traction forces allow fibroblasts and myofibroblasts to move throughout the extracellular

matrix (ECM) (Harris *et al.* 1981) and disrupt the ECM network, resulting in the regulation of cellular functions (Tranquillo *et al.* 1992), maintaining homeostasis with regards to cellular tension (Harris *et al.* 1987). In comparison, fibroblasts produce traction forces larger than those required for cellular movement (Harris *et al.* 1981) causing major disruptions of the cell ECM. More closely, during tissue repair, fibroblasts produced traction forces that caused contraction and disruption of the collagen matrix. In addition, a study by Elrich *et al.* 1990 showed that fibroblasts produced a traction force that caused single units to contract the wound and that myofibroblasts indicated the conclusion of the production of the contractile force.

Taking the aforementioned studies into consideration, it may be assumed that the shrinkage of collagen observed in Figure 4.3 may have been as a result of the contractile forces of fibroblasts similar to what happens during wound healing. Since the collagen layer had shrunk to a much smaller size when incubated at 37°C (Figure 4.3 b), compared 33°C (Figure 4.3 a), it may be assumed that 37°C is the optimum temperature for the cellular processes of fibroblasts, allowing for an increased production of the contractile force.

In order to potentially generate a stratified keratinocyte structure using a method that involves growing organotypic co-cultures on a collagen bed, the amount of collagen used in the experiment would have to be optimized in order to counteract the amount of surface area that will be lost due to shrinkage. This method was not investigated further. However, it leaves room for additional studies. The *in vitro* keratinocyte layers were incubated at different temperatures to determine which of the two allowed for a closer resemblance to human skin *in vivo*. The two temperatures that were chosen for this experiment were 33°C and 37°C. This is because 37°C is core body temperature and 33°C is the temperature of human skin (Ramanathan, 1964).

All studies involving the development of a stratified keratinocyte model have used incubation at 37°C. Therefore, a model where HaCaT cells are grown at 33°C has not been studied before. In keeping with Lamb and Ambler, 2013, we detected the presence of keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin in cells grown at 37°C. Keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin were also detected in the cells that had been incubated at 33°C (Figure 4.6). This indicates that the keratinocytes in the stratification models incubated at both temperatures had committed to differentiation, although the keratin 10 and involucrin fluorescence was more intense at 33°C than at 37°C, whilst the fluorescence of keratin 14 remained more intense at 37°C.

As keratinocytes differentiate, there is detectable down-regulation of a specific set of basal proteins and the up-regulation of suprabasal markers (Fuchs, 1990). Keratins are expressed by epithelial tissue at specific sites and at specific stages of differentiation (Schweizer *et al.* 2006). It is for this reason that we looked for the presence of the basal marker keratin 14 and suprabasal markers keratin 10 and involucrin.

Keratin 14 is part of the type I keratin family of intermediate filaments and is therefore involved in forming the cytoskeleton of epithelial cells and is expressed in mitotically active basal layer cells simultaneously with keratin 5 (Schweizer *et al.* 2006). As cells differentiate, expression is down regulated (Schweizer et al, 2006). Keratin 10, on the other hand, is expressed in post-mitotic, terminally differentiating keratinocytes (Paramio *et al.* 1999). During terminal differentiation, the cornified envelope develops in keratinocytes, causing cells to become permeable to both, calcium and various other ions (Thacher & Rice, 1985). This influx of calcium allows for the activation of transglutaminase which catalyses this process. (Thacher & Rice, 1985).

Involucrin is an imperative precursor of the cell envelope. The mechanism by which Involucrin is positioned remains unknown, however it is placed adjacent to the inner plasma membrane and

crosslinked to a number of membrane proteins by keratin-specific transglutaminase (Thacher & Rice, 1985). The sub-cellular localization of precursors and the involucrin amino acid sequence allows for the generation of the envelope and this process involves a minimum of 6 proteins (Thacher & Rice, 1985).

Figure 4.6 also shows that a more intense fluorescence is seen at 33°C for keratin 10 and involucrin compared to that seen at 37°C. This indicates a higher concentration of suprabasal markers, suggesting that even though stratification of keratinocytes was slower at 33°C than 37°C, differentiation was quicker at 33°C. Gene expression studies on these two markers at different temperatures should be done in order to substantiate this finding.

Figures 4.4 b and d show that more layers are formed during incubation at 37°C compared to 33°C, indicating that 37°C is a more suitable temperature to grow stratified keratinocyte layers. This may be because 37°C is the core body temperature (Ramanathan, 1964), giving an indication of how keratinocytes may grow in the human body.

Additionally, further studies should be conducted where keratinocytes are grown at a temperature range from 30° to 37°C to better understand how *in vivo* keratinocyte growth does take place.

After infection of the keratinocytes with chlamydia, the cells were incubated for both the experiments at 33°C and 37°C for a further week. The life cycle of the *C. trachomatis* L2 strain is approximately 48 hours (Choroszy-krol *et al.* 2012). Therefore, incubating the infected keratinocyte layers for a week after infection ensured that EBs were released after the first cycle to infect new cells within the keratinocyte structure, allowing deeper penetration of the microorganisms into the keratinocyte layers.

C. trachomatis infection experiments of multiple layers of HaCaT cells grown at 33°C have not been conducted before. Joubert and Sturm, 2008 showed that a monolayer of HaCaT cells grown at 33°C
could be infected with *C. trachomatis*, which is the approximate temperature at the initial target site during infection with the LGV biovar. The results of this study (Figure 4.5) show that *C. trachomatis* also infects layered keratinocytes at 33°C.

Degradation seen in the infected keratinocyte layers incubated at 37° C was much more prominent compared to that incubated at 33° C (Fig 4.4 and 4.5). The layers formed at 33° C were not largely infected with *C. trachomatis* since there was a substantial amount of uninfected cells present at 33° C as compared to 37° C (Fig. 4.5). This is in keeping with former findings that the optimum growth temperature of the *C. trachomatis* LGV biovar is 37° C (Joubert and Sturm, 2008).

Overall, the study provided an idea of the pathology of the *C. trachomatis* by demonstrating the effect it may have on *in vivo* skin. Similar keratinocyte models may be generated and infected with various other organisms in an effort to gain insight on the pathology thereof. In addition, the study may be explored further by documenting the effect of the organism on keratinocytes at various stages of the duration of incubation, giving a more detailed analysis of its pathology.

REFERENCES

Alonso L & E Fuchs. 2003. Stem cells of the skin epithelium. PNAS. 100: 1830-1835

Anderson DJ, Marathe J & J Rudney. 2014. The structure of the human vaginal stratum corneum and its role in immune defence. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*. **71**(6): 618-623

Banerjee S, Wu, Q, Yu P, Qi M & L Chen. 2014. *In Silico* analysis of all point mutations on the 2B domain of K5/K14 causing epidermolysis bullosa simplex: a genotype-phenotype correlation. *Molecular Biosystems* **10**: 2567-2577

Bannantine JP, Griffiths RS, Viratyosin W, Brown WJ, Rockey DD. 2000. A secondary structure motif predictive of protein localization to the chlamydial inclusion membrane. Cell Microbiol 2:35–47

Bavoil P, Ohlin A and Schachter J. 1984. Role of Disulfide Bonding in Outer Membrane Structure and Permeability in Chlamydia trachomatis. *Infect Immun* **44**(2):479-85

Bavoil PM, Hsia R-C and Ojcius DM. 2000. Closing in on Chlamydia and its intracellular bag of tricks. *Microbiology*. **146**:2723-2731

Belland RJ, Scidmore MA, Crane DD, Hogan DM, Whitmire W, McClarty G et al. 2001. Chlamydia trachomatis cytotoxicity associated with complete and partial cytotoxin genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98(24):13984-9
Belland RJ, Scidmore MA, Crane DD, Hogan DM, Whitmare W, McCarty G & HD Caldwell. 2001. Chlamydia trachomatis cytotoxicity associated with complete and partial cytotoxins genes. *PNAS*.

98(24) 13984-13989

Belland RJ. 2004. Polymorphisms in the Chlamydia trachomatis Cytotoxin Locus Associated with Ocular and Genital Isolates. *Infect Immun* **72**(12):7063-72

Bikle DD, Xie C & Tu Cl. 2012. Calcium regulation of keratinocyte differentiation. *Expert. Rev. Endocrinol. Metab* **7**(4):461-472

Blanton RA, Perez-Reyes N, Merreick DT & JK McDougall. 1991. Epithelial cells immortalized by human papillomaviruses have premalignant characteristics in organtypic culture. *Am. J. Pathol.* **198**: 673-685.

Bobo LD, Novak N, Munoz B, Hsieh YH, Quinn TC & S West. 1997. Severe disease in children with Trachoma is associated with persistent Chlamydia trachomatis infection. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* **176**(6): 1524-1530

Bothe M, Dutow P, Pich A, Genth H & A Klos. 2015. DXD motif-dependent and independent effects of the Chlamydia trachomatis cytotoxin. CT166. *Toxins*. **7**(2) 621-637

Boukamp P, Petrussevska, RT, Breitkreutz D, Hornug J, Markham A & NE Fusenig. 1988. Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploidy human keratinocyte cell line. *J. Cell Biol.* **106**:761-771

Brade L, Nurminen M, Makela PH & H Brade. 1985. Antigenic properties of Chlamydia trachomatis lipopolysaccharide. *Infection and Immunity* **48**(2) 569-572

Brade H, Brade L and Nano FE. 1987. Chemical and serological investigations on the genus-specific lipopolysaccharide epitope of Chlamydia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **84**:2508-12

Breitkreutz D, Schoop VM, Mirancea N, Baur M, Stark HJ & NE Fusenig. 1998. Epidermal differentiation and basement membrane formation by HaCaT cells in surface transplants. European *Journal of Cell Biology* **75**(3):273-286

Bullock AJ, Higham MC & S MacNeil. 2006. Use of human fibroblasts in the development of xenobiotic-free culture and delivery system for human keratinocytes. *Tissue Eng.* **12**: 245-255

Busch C, Hofmann F, Gerhard R and Aktories K. 2000. Involvement of a conserved tryptophan residue in the UDP-glucose binding of large clostridial cytotoxin. *J Biol Chem.* **275**:13228-13234

Buxton RS & AI Magee. 1992. Structure and interactions of desmosomal and other cadherins. *Semin. Cell Biol.* **3**:157-167

Byrne, GI. 2003. Chlamydia unlocked. PSNA. 100:14

Caldwell HD, Kromhout J & J Schachter. 1981. Purification and partial characterization of the major outer membrane protein of Chlamydia trachomatis. *Infection and Immunity* **31**(3): 1161-1176 Caldwell HD, Wood H, Crane D, Bailey R, Jone RB, Mabey D, Maclean I, Mohammed Z, Peeling

CR, Schachter J, Solomon AW, Stamm WE, Suchland RJ, Taylor L, West SK, Quinn TC, Belland RJ
& McClarty G. 2003. Polymorphisms in Chlamydia trachomatis tryptophan synthase genes
differentiate between genital and ocular isolates. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 11: 1757-1769

Caldwell CM, Su W & AP Kowalczyk. 2016. Cadherin tales: Regulation of Cadherin by endocytic membrane trafficking. *Traffic* **17**(12): 1262-1271

Candi E, Schmidt R & G Melino. 2005. The cornified envelope: A model of cell death in the skin. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **6**:328-340

Carlson JH, Hughes S, Hogan D, Cieplak G, Sturdevant DE, McClarty G, Caldwell HD and Belland RJ. 2004. Polymorphisms in the Chlamydia trachomatis Cytotoxin Locus Associated with Ocular and Genital Isolates. *Infect Immun* **72**(12):7063-72

Charoszy-krol I, Frej-madrazak M, Jama Kmiek A, Bober T & J Sarawsk. 2012. Characterisitics of the Chlamyida trachomatis species- Immunopathology and Infections. Adv Clin Exp Med 21(6): 797808

Chavez-Munoz C, Nguyen KT, Xu W, Hong SJ, Mustoe TA & RD Galiano. 2013. Transdifferentiation of adipose-derived stem cells into keratinocyte-like cells: Engineering a stratified epidermis. Plos One 8(12): e80587-805

Chen W & B Obrink. 1991. Cell-cell contacts mediated by E cadherin (uvormorulin) restrict invasive behaviour of L-cells. *J Cell Biol.* **114**:319-327

Coolen NA, Verkerk M, Reijnen L, Vlig M & AJ van den Bogaerdt. 2007. Culture of keratinocytes for transplantation without the need of feeder layer cells. *Cell transplant*. **16**: 649-661

Coulombe PA, Cham YM, Albers K & E Fuchs. 1990. Deletions in epidermal keratins leading to alterations in filament organization in vivo and intermediate filament assembly in vitro. The Journal of Cell Biology 111(6): 3049-3064

Coulombe PA & E Fuchs. 1990. Elucidating the early stages of keratin filament assembly. The Journal of Cell Biology. 111(1): 153

Coulombe PA. 1993. The cellular and molecular biology of keratins:Beginning a new era. *Curr Opi Cell Biol* **5**:17-29

Coulombe PA & E Fuchs. 1997. Elucidating the early stages of keratin filament assembly. *J Cell Biol*. **111**:153-169

Danielsson K, Coates PJ, Ebrahimi M, Nylander E, Wahlin YB & K Nylander. 2014. Genes involved in epithelial differentiation and development are differentially expressed in oral and genital Lichen Planus epithelium compared to normal epithelium. *Acta Dermato-Venerologica* **94**(5): 526-530

Dave, J & K Bayless. 2014. Vimentin as an integral regulator of cell adhesion and endothelial sprouting. *Microcirculation*. **24**(4):333-344

Durst M, Gallahan D, Jay G & JS Rhim. 1989. Glucocorticoid-enhanced neoplastic transformation of human keratinocytes by human papillomavirus type 16 and an activated ras oncogene. *Virology*. **173**:767-771

Eckert RL, Crish JF & NA Robinson. 1997. The epidermal keratinocyte as a model for the study of gene regulation and cell differentiation. *Physiol Rev.* **77**:397-424

Elela SA and Nazar RN. 1997. Role of the 5.8S rRNA in ribosome translocation. *Nucleic Acids Res* **25**(9):1788-94 Elias PM & GK Menon. 1991. Structural and lipid biochemical correlations of the epidermal permeability barrier. Advances in lipid research 24:1

Ehrlich HP, Rajaratnam JB. 1990. Cell locomotion forces versus cell contraction forces for collagen lattice contraction: an *in vitro* model of wound contraction. *Tissue Cell*. **22**:407–417

Engel JN & D Ganem. 1987. Chlamydial rRNA operons: Gene organization and identification of putative tandem promotors. 1987. *Journal of bacteriology* **169**(12): 5678-5685

Fields KA, Hackstadt T. 2000. Evidence for the secretion of Chlamydia trachomatis CopN by a type III secretion mechanism. Mol Microbiol 38:1048-60

Fields KA, Fischer E and Hackstadt T. 2002. Inhibition of Fusion of Chlamydia trachomatis Inclusions at 32°C Correlates with Restricted Export of IncA. Infect Immun 70(7):3816-23

Fields KA & T Hackstadt. 2002. The chlamydial inclusion: Escape from the endocytic pathway. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* **18**: 221-245

Fling SP, Sutherland RA, Steele LN, Hess B, D'Orazio SE, et al. 2001. CD8+ T cells recognize an inclusion membrane-associated protein from the vacuolar pathogen Chlamydia trachomatis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:1160–65

Fox A, Rogers JC, Gilbart J, Morgan S, Davis CH, Knight S & PB Wyrick. 1990. Muramic acid is not detachable in Chlamydia psittaci or Chlamydia trachomatis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Infection and immunity* **1990**:835-837

Fuchs E. 1990. Epidermal differentiation: the bare essentials. Journal of Cell Biology 111: 2807–2814

Fuchs E. 1993. Epidermal differentiation and keratin gene expression. J Cell Sci Suppl. 17:197-208

N.E. Fusenig & P. Boukamp, 1998. Multiple stages and genetic alterations in immortalization, malignant transformation, and tumor progression of human skin keratinocytes. *Mol. Carcinog.* **23**: 144–158.

Gerard HC, Whittum-Hudson JA & AP Hudson. 1997. Genes required for assembly and function of the protein synthetic system in Chlamydia trachmatis are expressed early in elementary to reticulate body transformation. *Molecular and General Genetics and Genomics* **255**(6); 637-642

Ghuysen J-M and C Goffin. 1999. Lack of Cell Wall Peptidoglycan versus Penicillin Sensitivity: New Insights into the Chlamydial Anomaly. *Antimicrob Agents Chemoth*. **43**(10):2339-44

Gilchrest BA, Karassik RL, Wilkins L, Vrabel MA & TA Maciag. 1983. Autocrine and paracrine growth stimulation of cells derived from human skin. *J. Cell. Physiol.* **117**:235-240

Green, H. 1977. Terminal differentiation of cultured human epidermal cells. Cell. 11: 405-416

Grieshaber NA, Sager JB, Dooley CB, Hayes SF & T Hackstadt. 2006. Regulation of the Chlamydia trachomatis histone-like protein HC2 is IspE-dependent and IntA-independent. J Bacteriol. 188(14):5289-92

Haake AR & RR Polakowska. 1993. Cell death by apoptosis in epidermal biology. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **101**:107-112

Hackstadt T, Baehr W & Y Ying. 1991. Chlamydia trachomatis developmentally regulated protein is homologous to eukaryotic histone H1. *PNAS*. **88**(9): 3937-3941

Hackstadt T, Scidmore MA, Rockey DD. 1995. Lipid metabolism in Chlamydia trachomatis infected cells: directed trafficking of Golgi-derived sphingolipids to the chlamydial inclusion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **92**:4877–81

Hackstadt T, Fischer ER, Scidmore MA, Rockey DD, Heinzen RA. 1997. Origins and functions of the chlamydial inclusion. *Trends in Microbiology* **5**(7):288-293

Harris AK, Stopak D & P Wild. 1981. Fibroblast traction as a mechanism for collagen morphogenesis. *Nature* **290**:249–251

Harris AK. 1987. Cell motility and the problem of anatomical homeostasis. *J Cell Sci Suppl.* **8**:121–140

Harrris SR, Seth-Smith HMB, Solomon AW, Cutclif LT & NR Thomson. 2012. Whole-genome analysis of diverse *Chlamydia trachomatis* strains identitfies phylogenetic relationships masked by current clinical typing. *Nature Genetics*. **44**. 413-419

Hatzfeld M & K Weber. 1990. The coiled coil of in vitro assembled keratin filaments is a heterodimer of Type-I and Type-II kertains: Use of site-specific mutagenesis and recombinant protein expression. *J Cell Biol.* **110**:1199-1210

Heid HW, Moll I & WW Franke. 1988. Patterns of expression of trichocytic and epithelial cytokeratins in mammalian tissues. I. Human and bovine hair follicles. Differentiation 37(2): 137-157 Hennings H, Michael D, Cheng C, Steinert P, Holbrook K & SH Yospa. 1980. Calcium regulation of growth and differentiation of mouse epidermal cells in culture. *Cell* **19**(1): 245-254

Hennings H, Steinert & MM Buxman. 1981. Calcium induction of transglutaminase and the formation of ε (γ -glutamyl) lysine cross-links in cultured mouse epidermal cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication* **102**(2):739-745

Hennings H & KA Holbrook. 1983. Calcium regulation of cell-cell concentration and differentiation of epidermal cells in culture. An ultrastructural study. *Exp. Cell Res.* **143**:127-142

Heine H, Müller-Loennies S, Brade L, Lindner B and Brade H. 2003. Endotoxic activity and chemical structure of lipopolysaccharides from Chlamydia trachomatis serotypes E and L2 and Chlamydophila psittaci 6BC. *Eur J Biochem* **270**:440-50

Heinzen RA and Hackstadt T. 1997. The Chlamydia trachomatis parasitophorous vacuolar membrane is not passively permeable to low-molecular-weight compounds. Infect Immun 65:1088-94

Hermann HB & Homberger DG. 2009. Structure and functions of keratin proteins in simple, structured, keratinized and cornified epithelia. *Journal of Anatomy* **214**(4): 515-559

Hodivala KJ & FM Watt. 1994. Evidence that cadherins play a role in the downregulation of integrin expression that occurs during keratinocyte terminal differentiation. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **124**(4):589

Horoschak K and Moulder JW. 1978. Division of Single Host Cells after Infection with Chlamydiae. Infect Immun 19(1):281-6

Hotchin NA & FM Watt. 1992. Transcriptional and post-translational regulation of β 1 interaction expression during keratinocyte terminal differentiation. *J Biol. Chem.* **267**:14852-14858

Hybiske K and Stephens RS. 2007. Mechanisms of host cell exit by the intracellular bacterium chlamydia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **104**(27):11430-5

Ingalls RR, Rice PA, Qureshi N, Takayama K, Lin JS and Golenbock DT. 1995. The inflammatory cytokine response to Chlamydia trachomatis infection is endotoxin mediated. *Infect Immun* **63**:312530

Jenkin HM. 1960. Preparation and properties of cell walls of the agent of meningopneumonitis. *Journal of Bacteriology* **80**:639-647

Lamb R & CA Ambler. 2013. Keratinocytes propagated in serum –free, feeder-free culture conditions fail to form stratified epidermis in a reconstituted skin model. *Plos One*. **8**(1):e52494

Larjava H, Peltonen J, Akiyama K, Yamada SS, Gralnick HR, Uitto J and KM Yamada. 1990. Novel function for β1 integrins in keratinocyte cell-cell interactions. *J Cell Biol*. **110**:803-815

Lee E & SH Yospa. 1991. Changes in inositol phosphate metabolism are associated with terminal differentiation and neoplasia in mouse keratinocytes. *Carcinogenesis* **12**(9): 1651-1658

Leonard Ca & N Borel. 2014. Chronic chlamydial diseases: From atherosclerosis to urogenital infections. *Current Clinical Microbiology Reports* **1**(3): 61-72

Leube RE, Bader BL, Bosch FX, Zimbelmann R, Achtstaetter T & WW Frank. 1988. Molecular characterization and expression of the stratification-related cytokeratins 4 and 1. *J Cell Biol*. **106**: 1249-1261

Li B & HC Wang. 2011. Fibroblasts and Myofibroblasts in wound healing: Force generation and measurement. Journal of Tissue Viability 20(4): 108-120

Lietchti GW, Kuru E, Hall E, Kalinda A, Brun YW, Van Nieuwenhze M & T Maurelli. 2014. A new metabolic cell-wall labelling method reveals peptidoglycan in Chlamydia trachomatis. *Nature* **506**: 507-528

Lloyd C, Yu QC, Cheng J, Turksen K, Degenstein L, Hutton E & E Fuchs. 1995. The basal keratin networkof stratified squamous epithelia: defining K15 function in the absence of K14. *J Cell Biol*. **129**:1329-1344

Luger TA & T Schwarz. 1990. Evidence for an epidermal cytokine network. *J.Invest.Dermatol.* **95**: 100-104

Maas-Szabowski N & NE Fusenig. 1996. Interleukin 1 induced growth factor expression in postmitotic and resting fibroblasts. *J.Invest.Dermatol.* **107**:849-855

Maas-Szabowski N, Stark HJ & Fusenig NE. 2000. Keratinocytegrowth regulation in defined organotypic cultures through IL-1 induced KGF expression in resting fibroblasts. *J Invest. Dermatol.* **114**:1075-1084

Maas-Szabowski N, Szabowski A, Stark HJ, Andrecht S, Kolbus A, Schorpp-Kistner M, Angel P & NE Fusenig. 2001. Organotypic co-cultures with genetically modified mouse fibroblasts as a tool to dissect molecular mechanisms regulating keratinocyte growth and differentiation. *J.Invest.Dermatol.***116**:816-820

Maas Szabowski N, Starker A & NE Fusenig. 2003. Epidermal tissue regenraton and stromal interaction in HaCaT cells is initiated by TGF-α. *Journal of Cell Science*. **116**:2937-2948

Mabey D & R Peeling. 2002. Lymphogranuloma venereum. Sexually Transmitted Infections 78: 9092

Mabey D & R Bailey. 1999. Eradication of trachoma worldwide. *Acta Ophthalmologica* **83**: 12611263 Maleka DM, Hoosen AA, Sturm AW and Kiepiela P. 1996. The Laboratory Diagnosis of Lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV). MMedSc dissertation, University of Natal Medical School, Department of Medical Microbiology, Durban, South Africa. (unpublished)

Manire, GP. 1966. Structure of purified cell walls of dense forms of meningopneumonitis organisms. *J Bacteriol*. 91: 409-413

Marcelo CL, Kim YG, Kaine JL & JJ Voorhees. 1978. Stratification, specialization and proliferation of primary keratinocyte cultures. Evidence of a functioning in vitro epidermal cell system. The Journal of Cell Biology 79:356-370

Mathews SA, Volp KM & P Timms. 1999. Development of a quantitative gene expression assay for Chlamydia trachomatis identified temporal expression of o factors. *FEBS Letters* **458**(1999):354-358

Matsumoto A and Manire GP. 1970. Electron Microscopic Observations on the Fine Structure of Cell Walls of Chlamydia psittaci. *J Bacteriol* **104** (3):1332-7

McGrath JA, Eady RAJ & FM Pope. 2004. Anatomy and organisation of human skin. Burns T; Breathnach S; Cox N & C Griffith. Rook's Textbook of Dermatology (7th ed). Blackwell publishing. Pp 4190

Mertz AF, CHe Y, Banerjee S, Goldstein JM, Rosowski KA, Revilla SF, Niessen CM, Marchetti MC, Dufreshe ER & Horsley. 2013. Cadherin-based intercellular adhesions organise epithelial cell-matrix traction forces. *PNAS* **110**(3):842-847

Miyairi I, Mahdi OD, Ouellette SP, Belland RJ & GI Byrne. 2006. Different growth rates of *Chlamydia trachomatis biovars* reflect pathotype. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* **194**:350-357 Mital J, Miler J, Fischer ER & T Hackstadt. 2010. Specific chlamydial inclusion membrane proteins associate with active Src family kinases in microdomains that interact with the host microtubule network. *Cellular microbiology* **12**(9): 1235-1249 Moll R, Franke WW, Schiller DL, Geiger B & R Krepler. 1982. The catalog of human cytokeratins: patterns of expression in normal epithelia, tumors and cultured cells. *Cell.* **31**:11-24

Moore ER, Fischer ER, Mead DJ & T Hackstadt. 2008. The chlamydial inclusion preferentially intercepts basolaterally directed sphingomyelin-containing exocytic vacuoles. *Traffic* **9**(12): 21302140

Morgan PR, Shirlaw PJ, Johnson NW, Leigh IM & EB Lane. 1987. Potential applications of antikeratin antibodies in oral diagnosis. *Journal of Oral Pathology* **16**:212-222

Moulder JW. 1991. Interaction of chlamydiae and host cells in vitro. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **55** (1): 143-190

Nelson WG & TT Sun, 1983. The 50- and 58-kdalton keratin classes as molecular markers for stratified squamous epithelia: cell culture studies. *J Cell Biol.* **97**: 244-251

Newhall WJV & RB Jones. 1983. Disulfide-linked oligomers of the major outer membrane protein of chlamydiae. *Journal of bacteriology*. **154**: 998-1001

Nose A & M Takeichi. 1986. A novel cadherin cell adhesion molecule: its expression patterns associated with implantation and organogenesis of mouse embryos. *J Cell Biol*. **103**:2649-2658

Núnez MT, Gaete V, Watkins JA and Glass J. 1990. Mobilization of iron from endocytic vesicles: the effects of acidification and reduction. J Biol Chem 265:6688-92

O'Connell CM, Ionova IA, Quayle AJ, Visintin A & RR Ingalls. 2006. Localization of TLR2 and

MyD88to Chlamydia trachomatis inclusions. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 281(3): 1652-1659

Oda D, Bigler L, Mao EJ & CM Disteche. 1996. Chromosomal abnormalities in HPV-16immortalized oral epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis*. **17**:2003-2008

O'keefe, EJ, Briggaman RA & B Herma. 1987. Calcium-induced assembly of adherens junctions in keratinocytes. *J Cell Biol.* **105**:807-817

Ortiz L, Demick KP, Petersen JW, Polka M, Rudersdorf RA, Van Der Pol B, Jones R, Angervine M & R DeMars. 1996. Chlamydia trachomatis major outer membrane protein (MOMP) epitopes that activate HLA class II-restricted T cells from infected humans. *J.Immunol.* **157**(10):4554-67

Nael Osmani, Michel Labousse. 2015. Remodeling of keratin-coupled cell adhesion complexes. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*. **32:** 30-38

Nieuwhenhuis RF, Ossewaarde JM, Gotz HM, Dees J, Thio HB, Thomeer MG, Hollander JC, Newmann MH & WI Van der Meijden. 2004. Resurgence of Lymphogranuloma venereum in Western Europe: an outbreak of Chlamydia trachomatis serovar L2 proctitis in the Netherlands among men who have sex with men. Clinical Infectious Diseases 39(7): 996-1003

Paramio JM, Casanova ML, Segrelles C, Misittnacht S, Lane EB & JL Jorcano. 1999. Inhibition of protein kinase B (PKB) and PKC3 mediates keratin K10-induced cell cycle arrest. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**:3086-3094

Perine P & W Stamm. 1999. Lymphogranuloma venereum. In Holmes KK (eds) Sexually Transmitted Diseases. New York. McGraw-Hill. Pp.424

Prunieras, M, Regnier M & D Woodley. 1983. Methods for cultivation of keratinocytes with an airliquid interface. *J Invest Dermatol.* **81**: 28s-33s

Pummi K, Malminen M, Aho H, Karvonen SL, Peltonen J & S Peltonen. 2001. Epidermal tight junction: 20-1 and occluding are expressed in mature developing and affected skin and in vitro differentiatinf keratinocytes. Jornal of investigative dermatology **117**(5):105-1058

Quinlan RA, Schillar DL, Hatzfeld M, Achtstatter T, Moll R, Jorcano JL, Magin TM & WW Franke.
1985. Patterns of expression and organisation of cytokeratin intermediate filaments. *Ann NY Acad Sci*455:282-306.

Ramanathan NL. 1964. A new weighting system for mean surface temperature of the human body. *Journal of applied physiology* **19**(3): 531-533

Reichert U, Michel S & R Schmidt. 1993. The cornified envelope: a key structure of terminally differentiation keratinocytes. In: Darmon M, Blumenberg M (eds). Molecular Biology of the Skin: the keratinocytes. San Diego:Academic Press, 1993, pp107-149.

Rheinwald JG & H Green. 1975. Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation keratinizing colonies from single cells. *Cell*. **6**:331-343

Rinnerthaler M, Streubel MK, Bischof J & K Richter. 2015. Skin aging, gene expression and calcium. *Experimental Gerontology*. **68**:59-65

Rippa AL, Vorotelyak EA, Vasilev AV & VV Terskikh. 2013. The role of integrins in the development and homeostasis of the epidermis and skin appendages. *Acta Naturae* **5**(19): 22-33

Salas PJ, Forteza R & A Mashukova. 2016. Multiple roles for keratin intermediate filaments in the regulation of epithelial barrier function and apico-basal polarity. *Tissue Barriers* **4**(7): 2168-8370

Schachter J, Smith DE, Dawson CR, Anderson WR, Deller JJ Jr & AW Hoke. 1969. Lymphogranuloma Venereum. I. Comparison of the Frei test, Complement Fixation test, and Isolation of the Agent. *J Infect Dis* **120**(3):372-5

Schachter J. 1983. Lymphogranuloma vereum. British Medical Bulletin 39(2): 151-154

Schachter J. (1999). Infection and disease epidemiology. American Society for Microbiology Press. Washington, DC, USA. 139-170

Schachter J & J Moncada. 2005. Lymphogranuloma venereum: How to turn an endemic disease into an outbreak of a new disease? Start looking. *Sexually transmitted diseases* **32**(6): 331-332

Schweizer J, Bowden PE, Coulombe PP, Langbein L, Lane EB, Magin TM, Maltais L, Omary MB, Parry DA, Rogers MA & MW Wright. 2006. New consensus nomenclature for mammalian keratins. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **174**(2):169-174 Shier D, J Butler & R Lewis. 1999. Hole's human anatomy and physiology. 8th ed. McGraw-Hill companies.

Shrestha C, Tang Y, Fan X, Li L, Zeng Q, Pennypacker SD, Bikle DD & Z Xie. 2016. Phosphoprotein phosphatase I is required for extracellular calcium-induced keratinocyte differentiation. Biomed Research International 2016: 3062765

Simon M. The epidermal cornified envelope and its precursors. 1994. In: Leigh IM, Lane EB, Watt FM (eds). The keratinocyte handbook. Cambridge: Cambridge University press. Pp275-292

Stanley JR, Foidart JM, Murray JC, Martin GR and SI Katz. 1980. The epidermal cell which selectively adheres to a collagen substrate is the basal cell. *J Invest Dermatol*. **74**:54-58

Stark HJ, Breitkreutz D, Limat A, Bowden P & NE Fusenig. 1987. Keratins of the human hair follicle: "hyperproliferative" keratins consistently expressed in outer root sheath cells *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Differentiation*. **35**:236-248

Stark HJ, Baur M, Breitkreutz, Mirancea N & NE Fusenig. 1999. Organotypic keratinocyte cocultures in defined medium with regular epidermal morphogenesis. *The Society of Investigative Dermatology*.
112: 681-691

Steinert PM: The two-chain coiled coil molecule of native epidermal keratin intermediate filaments is a type-I type-II heterodimer. 1990. *J Biol Chem.* **265**:8766-8774

Stephens RS, Kalman S, Lammel C, Fan J, Marathe R, et al. 1998. Genome sequence of an obligate intracellular pathogen of humans: Chlamydia trachomatis. Science 282:754–59

Steven T, Boyce BA & RG Ham. 1983. Calcium-regulated differentiation of normal human epidermal keratinocytes in chemically defined clonal culture and serum-free serial culture. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **81**:33-40

Stewart M: Intermediate filament structure and assembly. 1993. Curr Opi Cell Biol. 5:3-11

Stothard DR, Boguslawski G and Jones RB. 1998. Phylogenetic Analysis of the Chlamydia trachomatis Major Outer Membrane Protein and Examination of Potential Pathogenic Determinants. *Infect Immun* **66**(8):3618-3625

Strudwick XL, Lang DL, Smith LE & AJ Cowin. 2015. Combination of low calcium with Y-27632 rock inhibitor increases the proliferative capacity, expansion potential and lifespan of primary human keratinocytes while retaining their capacity to differentiate into stratified epidermis in a 3D skin model. Plos One 10(4): e0123651.doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0123651

Su H, Watkins NG, Zhang YXand HD Caldwell. 1990. Chlamydia trachomatis-host cell interaction: role of the chlamydial major outer membrane protein as an adhesion. *Infection and Immunity* **58**: 1017-1025

Takeichi M. 1988. The cadherins: Cell-cell adhesion molecules controlling animal morphogenesis. *Development (Camb)*. **102**:639-655 Takeichi M. 1991. Cadherin cell adhesion receptors as a morphogenetic regulator. *Science* (Wash. DC).251: 1451-1455

Tinkle CL, Pasoll A, Stokes N & E Fuchs. New insights into cadherin function in epidermal sheet formation and maintenance of tissue integrity. *PNAS* **105**(40): 15405-15410

Thacher SM & RH Rice. 1985. Keratinocyte-specific transglutaminase of cultured human epidermal cells: Relation to cross-linked envelope formation and terminal differentiation. *Cell* **40**(3):685-695 Thalmann J, Janik K, May M, Sommer K, Ebeling J, Hofmann F, Genth H & A Klos. 2010. Actin reorganization induced by *Chlamydia trachomatis* serovar D-Evidence for a critical role of the effector protein CT166 targetting Rac. *Plos One.* **5**(3) E9887

Todd WJ and Caldwell HD. 1985. The interaction of *Chlamydia trachomatis* with host cells: ultrastructural studies of the mechanism of release of a biovar II strain from HeLa 229 cells. *J Infect Dis* **151**:1037-44

Tranquillo RT, Durrani MA and AG Moon. 1992. Tissue engineering science: consequences of cell traction force. *Cytotechnology* **10**:225–250

Tsunenanga M, Kohno Y, Horii I, Yasumoto S, Huh N, tachikawa T, Yoshiki S & T Kuroki. 1994. Growth and differentiation properties of normal and transformed human keratinocytes in organotypic culture. *J. Cancer Res.* **85:**238-244

Van Roy F. 2014. Beyond E-cadherin: Roles of other cadherin super family members in Cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **14**:121-134 Wagar EA and RS Stephens. 1988. Developmental-Form-Specific DNA-Binding Proteins in Chlamydia spp. *Infect Immun* **56**(7):1678-84

Wang Y. 1999. Etiology of trachoma: a great success in isolating and cultivating Chlamydia trachomatis. *Chinese medical Journal*. **112**:938-941

Ward H, Martin I, Macdonald N, Alexander S, Simms I, Fenton K, French P, Dean G and C Ison. 2007. Lymphogranuloma venereum in the United Kingdom. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* **44**(1): 26-32

Ward ME. 1983. Chlamydial classification, development and structure. Br Med Bull. 39(2):109-115

Ward ME. 2002. Chlamydia. In: Medical Microbiology (16th edition) by Greenwood D, Slack RCB and Peutherer JF (editors), Elsevier Science Ltd., UK pp. 358-68

Watt FM & H Green. 19821. Stratification and terminal differentiation of cultured epidermal cells. *Nature* (Lond). **295**: 434-436

Weisburg WG, Hatch TP and Woese CR. 1986. Eubacterial Origin of Chlamydiae. *J Bacteriol* **167**(2): 570-574

Weissmanhomer, P & M Fry (1975). Chick embryo fibroblasts senescence in vitro: Pattern of cell division and life span as a function of cell density. *Mechanisms of agency and development*.4(2):159166

Wheelock MJ & PJ Jensen. 1992. Regulation of keratinocyte intercellular junction organization and epidermal morphogenesis by E-cadherin. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **117**(2):415

Wierzbicka JA, Zmijewski MA, Antoniewics J, Sabjanek M & AT Sloinski. 2017. Differentiation of keratinocytes modulates skin HPA analog. *Journal of Physiology* **232**:154-166

Williams SE, Ratliff LA, Postiglione MP, Knoblich JA & E Fuchs. 2014. Par3-mInsc and Gαi3 corporate to promote oriented epidermal cell divisions through LGN. *Nature Cell Biology* **16**: 758769

Wolf K, Fischer E, Mead D, Zhong G, Peeling R, WHitemire B & HD Caldwell. 2001. Chlamydia pneumonia Major Outer Membrane Protein is a surface-exposed antigen that elicits antibodies primarily detected against conformation-dependent determinants. *Infect Immun.* **69** (5): 3082-3091

Wylie JL, Hatch GM, McClarty G. 1997. Host cell phospholipids are trafficked to and then modified by Chlamydia trachomatis. *J Bacteriol* **179**:7233-42

Wyrick PB. 2000. Intracellular survival by Chlamydia. Cell Microbiol. 2(4):275-82

Yasir M, Pachikara ND, Bao X, Pan Z & H Fan. 2011. Regulation of Chlamydial infection by Host autophagy and vacuolar ATPase-bearing organelles. *Infect Immun.* **79**(10):4019-4028

Yamamoto-tanaka M, Motoyama T & TR Miyai. 2004. Multiple pathways are involved in DNA degradation during keratinocyte differentiation. *Cell death and disease* **5**:1181-1189

Zhu H, Shen Z, Luo H, Zhang W & X Zhu. 2016. *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection-associated risk of cervical cancer. *Medicine*. **95** (13) 1-10

APPENDIX A

Media, Solutions and Reagents

1. Cell Culture Media

1.1. Chlamydia Growth Media for Propagation

20 ml EMEM with NEAA

1 ml EMEM 20X glucose (1.76g glucose in 20ml EMEM)

- 0.02 ml Gentamycin
- 0.02 ml Amphotericin B (10mg/ml)
- 0.02 ml Cycloheximide (1mg/ml)

Reagents were added and refrigerated until use

- 1.2. All other cell culture media were used as purchased and respective supplements were added when necessary, as highlighted in Chapter 3
- 2. Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (Dulbecco A)

5 PBS tablets (Oxoid)

500ml distilled water

After dissolving 5 PBS tablets in 500ml autoclaved distilled water, the mixture was autoclaved at 121°C for 10 minutes, cooled and 20 ml aliquots were made in plastic tubes for refrigeration until use.

3. 0.05% EDTA

0.05g EDTA

1 PBS Tablet

100 ml Distilled water

After dissolving 1 PBS tablet and 0.05g EDTA in ~80ml autoclaved water, the pH was adjusted to 7.4 by adding 7.5% Sodium bicarbonate. Thereafter, the volume was adjusted to 100 ml and the mixture was autoclaved at 121°C for 10 minutes. 1 ml aliquots were then prepared for refrigeration until use.

4. Storage Fluid

4.1. HaCaT Cell Storage Fluid

30 ml Hyclone DMEM10 ml Glycerol (BDH Laboratory supplies, Poole, England)10 ml FBS

10 ml FBS and 10 ml Glycerol were added to 30 ml Hyclone DMEM and filter sterilized through a 0.22µm filter into a sterile 50ml tube.

4.2. McCoy Cell Storage Fluid

30 ml EMEM with EBSS, NEAA, sodium pyruvate, L-glutamine and HEPES 10 ml dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) (Fluka, Steinheim, Germany) 10 ml FBS

10 ml DMSO and 10ml of FBS were added to 30ml of EMEM and filter-sterilized through a $0.22\mu m$ filter into a sterile tube.

5. MicroTrak® C. trachomatis Reagent

5.1. MicroTrak® C. trachomatis Culture Confirmation Test:

C. trachomatis reagent: Fluorescein-labelled mouse monoclonal antibodies specified to *C. trachomatis*; protein-stabilized phosphate buffer; Evans Blue counter-stain, 0.01% sodium azide

Diluent: deionized water; 0.1% sodium azide

3 ml reconstitution diluent was added to lyophilized *C. trachomatis* reagent and gently swirled in order to dissolve. The reconstitution date was recorded on the vial, which was allowed to reach room temperature after approximately 15 minutes. Thereafter, the vial could be refrigerated (2-8°C) for up to 12 weeks.

5.2. Sucrose-Phosphate-Glutamate Buffer (SPG)

Sucrose KH₂PO₄ Na₂HPO₄. 7H₂O

Glutamic Acid

Distilled water

The Sucrose, KH_2PO_4 , Na_2HPO_4 .7H2O and Glutamic Acid were dissolved in ~400 ml autoclaved distilled water and the pH was adjusted to 7.4 by adding 7.5% Sodium bicarbonate. Thereafter, the volume was brought to 500 ml and the solution was filter sterilized through a 0.22 0.22µm filter into a sterile tube and stored at -20°C until use.

6. Immunofluorescence

6.1. Primary Antibodies

Antibodies to keratin 10, keratin 14 and involucrin were diluted in PBS and 1.5% Goat serum as follows:

1:50 $-20 \ \mu$ l antibody was added to 980 μ l PBS + Goat Serum Solution 1:500 $-2 \ \mu$ l antibody was added to 998 μ l PBS + Goat Serum Solution

6.2. Secondary Antibodies

Secondary antibody conjugated to FITC were diluted in PBS and 1.5% Goat serum as follows:

 $1{:}100-10~\mu l$ antibody was added to 990 μl PBS + Goat Serum Solution

1:400 – 2.5 µl antibody was added to 997.5 µl PBS + Goat Serum Solution

6.3. 1.5% Goat Serum

0.15 ml Goat Serum 9.85 ml PBS 0.15 ml Goat serum was added to 9.85 ml PBS and refrigerated until use

6.4. Soudium Citrate Buffer

2.94g Tri Sodium Citrate (dihydrate)1000ml distilled water

2.94g Tri Sodium Citrate (dehydrate) was dissolved to 1000 ml distilled water and the pH was adjusted to 6.0 by adding hydrochloric acid

6.5. Blocking Serum

0.5 ml Goat serum

4.5 ml PBS

0.5 ml Goat serum was added to 4.5 ml PBS and refrigerated until use

- 7. Preparation of collagen and organotypic co-cultures
 - 7.1. 5 mg Collagen from rat's tail (Sigma)

0.1% acetic acid

0.15 ml 10X HBSS

5 mg collagen was dissolved in 0.1% acetic acid on ice. The solution was then added to 0.15 ml 10X HBSS and neutralized with 2M NaOH

7.2. Mitomycin

120 mg Mitomycin was dissolved in 30 ml autoclaved distilled water and alliquotted into 1 ml tubes and refrigerated for use